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4IR

Fourth Industrial Revolution

ICT

Information and Communication
Technology

Amendment
Act

Films and Publications Amendment Act

MDDA

Media Development and Diversity Agency

AVE

Advertising Value Equivalent

NDP

National Development Plan

APP

Annual Performance Plan

NEHAWU

National Education, Health and Allied
Workers’ Union

BC

Business Continuity

OCR

Online Content Regulation

CCMA

Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and
Arbitration

OTT

Over The Top

CSAM

Child Sexual Abuse Material

POPI Act

Protection of Personal Information Act

DCDT

Department of Communications and Digital
Technologies

RPA

Research, Policy and Advocacy

DPME

Department of Performance Monitoring
and Evaluation

RRG

Research Reference Group

DR

Disaster Recovery

SID

Safer Internet Day

FPB

Film and Publication Board

SEIAS

Socio-economic Impact Assessment
Report

FP Act

Films and Publications Act

SADC

Southern African Development
Communities

FP Bill

Films and Publications Amendment Bill

SAPS

South African Police Service

FCS

Family and Child Protection Services

UN

United Nations

FY

Financial Year

VOD

Video On Demand

GCIS

Government Communication and
Information Services

GRAP

Generally Recognised Accounting Practice

GIZ

German Development Agency
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY AND CONFIRMATION OF ACCURACY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the following:
All information and amounts disclosed in the annual report is consistent with the annual financial statements audited
by the Auditor General.
The annual report is complete, accurate and is free from any omissions.
The annual report has been prepared in accordance with the guidelines on the annual report as issued by National
Treasury.
The Annual Financial Statements (Section 6) have been prepared in accordance with the Generally Recognised
Accounting Practice (GRAP) standards applicable to the public entity.
The accounting authority is responsible for the presentation of the financial statements and for the judgments made
in this information.
The accounting authority is responsible for establishing and implementing a system of internal control has been
recognized to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the performance information, the
human resource information and the annual financial statements.
The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements.
In our opinion, the annual report fairly reflects the operations, the performance information, the human resources
information and the financial affairs of the public entity for the financial year ended 31 March 2021.
Yours faithfuly

Ms. Abongile Mashele
Acting Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
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STRATEGIC OVERVIEW
FPB Mandate

FPB Vision

Derived from the Films and Publications Act 65 of 1996
as amended in 2004 and 2009, the FPB is mandated to
regulate: (1) the creation, production, possession and
distribution of certain publications and certain films
by means of classification; (2) the imposition of age
restrictions and giving consumer advice; (3) and make
exploitative use of children in pornographic publications,
films, or on the internet punishable. Therefore, the
mandate of the FPB can be summarized as follows:
“regulate the creation, production, possession and
distribution of games, ﬁlms and certain publications,
to protect children from harmful content and to
provide ratings to consumers for informed decisions”.

FPB Mission
Regulate the
creation, production,
possession and
distribution of films,
games and certain
publications by way of
classification,

Protect children from
exposure to disturbing
and harmful material
and from premature
exposure to adult
material,

Key priorities for the next ﬁve years
The FPB Council endorsed the following seven
key priorities as strategic priorities to influence the
application of the strategy;

Render the use
of children in and
exposure of children
to pornography a
punishable offence.

a)

Technology driven content regulation,

b) Public education (empower adults and protect
children),
c)

Legislative review (technologically neutral legislative regime),

d) International and local partnerships (to ensure
better regulation of the web) – with renewed focus
on local partnerships,
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e)

Research, Compliance Monitoring and Monitoring
& Evaluation to inform future priorities,

f)

Resource mobilisation and develop appropriate
funding models.

g) Strategic Institutional Alignment

Principles central to FPB Regulations
•

Protection of children from early exposure to adult
material and use in child sexual abuse material
productions – child pornography punishable by
law.

•

Provide consumer advice on media content – ‘we
inform, you choose’.

•

Provide designated areas for distribution of adult
material (pornography).

FPB Values
The FPB embraces the Batho Pele (People First)
principles of government as the core values of the
organisation that are to be observed at all times and
demonstrated by all employees in all its engagements
with both internal and external stakeholders. The
above principles are key determinants that are meant
to enable effectiveness. The strategy will promote the
following values:

OBJECTIVE

Legislative and other mandates
The FPB does not have a direct constitutional mandate
as it is a classification body, a regulator and a quasijudicial body, that licenses, regulates, adjudicates and
issues sanctions.
However, the FPB carries out its work with due
regard for the rights contained in the Constitution of
the Republic of South Africa, which recognizes and
protects the rights of every citizen, thereby ensuring
an open and democratic society.
Of particular importance are the following provisions
i.e. Sections 16, 28, 32 and 36 of the Constitution of
the Republic of South Africa and Act No 108 of 1996,
which stipulate that everyone has the right to freedom
of expression. This includes freedom of the press and
other media, artistic creativity and the freedom to
receive or impart information or ideas, the right to have
access to information, the right to human dignity and
the right to freedom of choice.
Section 16 of the Constitution contains limitations to
the right to freedom of speech, namely: propaganda
for war; incitement of imminent violence; or advocacy
of hatred that is based on race, ethnicity, gender or
religion, and that constitutes incitement to cause harm.
These limitations can be found in numerous pieces of
legislation issued since 1994, notably in the Protection
of Equality and Prevention of Unfair Discrimination Act
2000 (PEPUDA) and, more specifically, the Films and
Publications Act 16 of 1996 as amended.

CONSISTENT

Section 28 of the Constitution guarantees that every
child will be protected from any degradation, abuse,
exposure to harmful materials or exposure to child
pornography and that the child’s best interests are of
paramount importance in every matter concerning the
child.

CONFIDENTIAL
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DISRUPTIVE
THINKING

The FPB’s work is aligned to Outcome 14 of the
National Development Plan, which seeks to achieve
social cohesion and nation building. As a suboutcome, fostering constitutional values forms part
of the work that the FPB does in schools with its key
messaging regarding cyber safety, which outlines the
right to privacy and integrity.
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Legislative mandates
It is important to locate the role of the Film and
Publication Board, as mandated through the Films
and Publications Act of 1996 (as amended), within the
context of legislation that is relevant and related to
the business of the FPB. These include but may not
be limited to the following pieces of legislation that
anchors the FPB’s mandate:
i)

Constitution of the Republic of South Africa Act
108 of 1996 (as amended),

ii)

Child Justice Act 75 of 2008,

iii) Criminal Law (Sexual Offences and Related Matters) Amendment Act 32 of 2007 (for example Sections 10 and 19 of the Criminal Law Act (2007) and
Section 15 of the Child Justice Act (2008).
The Protection of Personal Information Act proclaims
that the right to privacy includes a right to protection
against the unlawful collection, retention, dissemination and use of personal information (POPI Act 4 of
2013). This Act has implications for the increasing incidences of online abuse, such as the so-called revenge
porn, the distribution of explicit images of people without their consent and the distribution of cyber-bullying
content - all of which manifest in multi-layered victimisation. Taking action against such abuse is within the
mandate of the Film and Publication Board.

In its pursuit of key outcomes and objectives, the FPB
is further tasked with the protection of children and
the empowerment of adults against exploitative and
harmful material, and it thus plays a key leadership role
in implementing anti-child pornography campaigns.
The organisation operates in an environment that is
largely influenced by rapid technological innovations
in media communication channels and a proliferation
of a variety of media platforms.
One of the FPB’s challenges is occasioned by noncompliance and limitations on the technology
platforms, of which the content is regulated or due
for regulation. A key program of this strategy is
the legislative review process, which will ultimately
lead to an enhanced legislative framework for the
organisation. The legislative review will focus on
empowering the FPB to institute penalties in the event
of non-compliance. Further, it will ensure that the
legislation and technology are neutral in ensuring that
the legislation remains relevant, despite changes in
technology.

Policy mandates
There is no policy mandate, as the FPB is an implementing entity for the Department of Communications
and Digital Technologies (DTPS).

The Electronic Communications Act of 2005 as amended regulates electronic media, particularly in the milieu
of media convergence. The Prevention and Combating
of Trafficking in Persons Act, 2013 pronounces on the
recruitment and exploitation of children in sex trafficking and in the production of pornography.
In pursuing its strategic vision, the FPB will be guided
by these laws, while upholding the values of our
constitution.
As a credible content classifier, the FPB is
responsible for executing activities and initiatives
aimed at successfully monitoring the creation,
production, distribution and possession of legal adult
entertainment, through the classification of the content
of films, publications, interactive games. To ensure the
objectives of the act are carried out successfully, the
FPB is responsible for developing policies, procedures
and processes.
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CHAIRPERSON’S FOREWORD

On behalf of the Council of the FPB, it is with great
pleasure to report on the Film and Publication Board
(“FPB”)’s Annual Report for the 2020/2021 financial
year. The financial year marked the end of a five-year
term of the previous Council whose term officially
ended on 2 December 2020. We appreciate the
hard work that the former Council injected to the
FPB to drive it to great milestones reaching optimal
performance levels. Notably so, is the FPB Amendment
Act which effectively expands the scope of the FBP
mandate and increases the enforcement authority of
the organization.
We are also mindful of the effects of the COVID–19
pandemic which has inevitably affected the operations
of the organization. Nonetheless we were able to
achieve our goals to the best of our ability noting it
would take some time before we go back to our
normal schedules. We are also now living in the reality
of the fourth industrial revolution (4IR), and the FPB
has already began adapting and gearing our resources
towards the swift technological advances that is upon
us.

In the period under review, we have strengthened
our partnerships with our stakeholders through
conclusion of Memorandum of Understanding with key
institutions. One such example is the MOU with the
Gauteng Film Commission and Brand South Africa. We
are also proud to report that we successfully hosted
the Harmonization of Content Regulation Conference,
which was held in March 2021, as a hybrid live/online
event. The event hosted approximately 150 delegates
with stakeholders across Africa and with delegates
who specialised in various disciplines such as content
regulators, distributors, creatives, non-governmental
organizations, and youth.
We are committed to ensuring that our governance
structures remain efficient through effective
compliance, monitoring and evaluation, and we remain
continuously fighting against fraud and corruption.
Council remains committed to the implementation of
an appropriate corporate governance framework and
is guided by the prescripts of the Film and Publication
Act, Public Finance Management Act, Treasury
Regulations and sound governance principles.
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to thank
the Honourable Minister of Communication and Digital
Technologies, Ms Stella Tembisa Ndabeni-Abrahams,
for her faith in the Council of the FPB, and her guidance
in leading the FPB to a sustainable future. I would also
like to thank the Honourable Deputy Minister, Ms Pinky
Kekana for her unwavering support and guidance,
Director General of the Department of Communication
and Digital Technologies and her management team
for their support during the year.
I also want to thank management and staff of the FPB
for their cooperation during these difficult periods
of transition and new normal brought about by the
COVID-19 pandemic. I would also like to thank the
former Council members for the direction and strategic
leadership they provided as the accounting authority
of FPB during its challenging period.

I wish to thank my fellow Council members, shareholders, management team, dedicated employees, clients,
partners, service providers and stakeholders for their
untiring commitment and enthusiasm to this Board.

Ms. Zamatungwa Mkosi
Chairperson of Council
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
FOREWORD

The Film and Publication Board (FPB) is pleased to
present the Annual Report for the 2020/2021 financial
year, updating our stakeholders on the progress we
have made in implementing our five-year (2020/2021 2024/2025) Strategy. The pages that follow illustrate the
commitment of the FPB and our Executive Authority,
the Department of Communications and Digital
Technologies (DCDT), to regulating the dissemination
of films, games and certain publications, for the
protection of children and vulnerable members of our
communities.
As with most organisations in the public and private
sectors globally, the FPB felt the pressure of the
Covid-19 pandemic health protocols and regulations
following the declaration of a state of emergency by
the Honourable President Cyril Ramaphosa in March
2020. We started the financial year in a full, hard
lockdown.
The operating model of the FPB depends on
stakeholder engagement and public education to

implement both our mandate and support activities.
The social distancing rules (which ranged from a total
ban on contact with others in the first two Quarters, to
severely limited numbers of people allowed to gather
in the final two Quarters) impacted heavily on the
organisation. The bright side of this situation was the
acceleration of a digital transformation in the way we
operationalised our annual targets. This has been on
the cards as part of our Digital Agenda Strategy since
its introduction in 2019/2020, and great strides were
made to maintain a high level of productivity during the
pandemic by implementing digital solutions.
This included creating an enabling digital environment
for staff to connect to systems and each other virtually allowing for remote working as well as processing
distributor registrations and submissions for classification online.
One of the casualties of the March 2020 hard lockdown
was our premier stakeholder engagement with African
regulators, content creators and NGOs, which was
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deferred to the 2020/2021 financial year. With foreign
travel still largely on hold, we were able to successfully
conduct the Harmonisation of Content Regulation in
Africa Conference in March 2021 as a hybrid physical
and online event using technology,
Soon after the world entered the pandemic crisis, it
became clear that the move by the world’s population
online to stay connected, entertained and educated
put consumers and especially children at greater risk
from the dark side of the internet, such as fake news,
digital addiction, and online child grooming by sexual
predators. Research from our partner the International
Association of Internet Hotlines (INHOPE) showed an
increase in abuse of children as they were often in
lockdown in their homes with their abusers.
This meant that, now more than ever, the role of
the FPB in advising consumers on safe content
consumption is imperative. We were able to step up
consumer campaigns on our social media platforms
and conducted three of our four flagship outreach
and education campaigns online. The digital divide
between citizens who can afford digital devices and
data became more apparent. Our solution was to take
a ‘train the trainer’ approach, focusing our attention
on equipping digitally connected boundary partners
who serve our most vulnerable communities with
Cybersafety information. In addition, we conducted
national radio, print and street pole campaigns.
Staff really felt the severity of the Covid-19 pandemic,
with personal losses of loved ones. We bid a sad
farewell to the manager in our Internal Audit Unit, who
succumbed to the disease after a long and valiant
battle. The experience brought the team together, with
several innovative sessions held online that allowed
staff to vent emotions and support each other through
a challenging time.
Notwithstanding the crisis environment, we have
made good progress in putting our strategy into effect,
achieving 67% of our Annual Performance Plans under
the “new normal”. This is largely due to the agility
and flexibility of our staff and Classifiers. The annual
result was down slightly from our 75% achievement
in 2019/2020, mostly due to the catch up after delays
experienced during the pandemic hard lockdown.
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We have seen some strong trends emerging in the past
three years in terms of content that is submitted for
classification. Largely this involves a continuous move
away from traditional physical forms of consumption
such as cinemas and DVDs to streaming and VideoOn-Demand (VOD) services. The pandemic further
hastened this trend along. A surprising development
has been the increase in the number of film festivals
that have registered and submitted content for
classification or exemption. This points to the vibrancy
of the South African film sector. More details on these
trends can be found later in this Annual Report.
I would like to acknowledge the extraordinary efforts
made by all our staff and contracted Classifiers. We
have learned a great deal under trying circumstances
this year and can be proud of our achievements.
Finally, the FPB thanks our Executive Authority and
the outgoing Council for their tireless efforts to bring
our mandate to life. We also take the opportunity to
appreciate our distributor clients for their diligence
in abiding by our laws and regulations. Our gratitude
also to our extended stakeholder network of Law
Enforcement; Community-Based, Faith-Based and
Non-Governmental Organisations; as well as other
government entities and private sector partners. You
have made our work easier by amplifying our message
of safe content consumption.

Ms. Abongile Mashele
Acting Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
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1.

THE IMPACT OF COVID 19 NATIONAL LOCKDOWN ON FPB SERVICE
DELIVERY

The Film and Publication Board’s 2020/2021 Financial
Year started a week into the national government’s
implementation of alert level 5 lockdown, which
enforced highly restrictive health and safety protocols
to contain the spread of the COVID19 pandemic.
The FPB’s service delivery had to continue despite
the forced shut down of its offices in line with these
protocols.

The first primary challenges experienced to address
a “work from home” scenario was to ensure Internet
connectivity and access to laptops for staff, and
remote access through internet connectivity to ICT
systems used to process distributor submissions and
registrations. The Client Support Unit had to make
provision for the online submission of content for
classification, since physical submissions were not
allowed during the lockdown. Online submissions as
well as remote classification brought to the fore FPB’s
shortcomings in relation to the digital environment,
which the ICT Unit had to address quickly to allow for

business continuity. These ranged from inadequate
data to do the work, inadequate digital storage
capacity on FPB machines, poor security measures in
place for online submission of distributor content, and
lack of compatibility of the FPB’s ICT infrastructure to
that of distributors.
Reflecting on these challenges now brings about
a sense of pride for the agility and flexibility with
which the FPB team successfully created turnaround
solutions. FPB managed to continue the delivery of
services during the hard lockdown and beyond. Now
that we have concluded a full financial year still in
lockdown, the FPB team continues to face challenges
such as the resumption of operation of the call centre
telephone number. This has led to an increased usage
of the e-mail platform for communication between the
organisation and its stakeholders.
The global COVID 19 Pandemic has significantly
influenced how consumers receive and consume
content. During the year under review, there was
a significant decline of 48% (56) in total content
classified, 616 as compared to 1185 in 2019/2020.
However of the total 616, 16 did not proceed to the
end due to technical challenges at classification room.
What is very noticeable, is the significant year-on-year
drop in number of submissions across all formats in Q1,
with exception of publications. While Q1 is traditionally
a slower quarter for submission of content, this
significant negative difference in Q1 of 2020/2021 may
be attributed to alert level 5 lockdown. The noticeable
gradual rise in numbers of classified content for Q2Q4, except for games and film festivals, is indicative of
how lockdown restrictions were gradually eased, thus
allowing for normal trade and content consumption
to resume. Figure 1 illustrates the comparison of
classified content for 2020/2021 FY versus 2019/2020
FY.
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2020-2021

GENERAL

49.7%
ON

OFF

Decline

15

Quarter 1

119

34

Quarter 2

123

87

Quarter 3

78

60

Quarter 4

70

196

Total

390

2020-2021

EXEMPTIONS

93.3%
ON

OFF

Decline

2019-2020

0

Quarter 1

3

1

Quarter 2

2

0

Quarter 3

2

0

Quarter 4

8

1

Total

15

2020-2021

EROTICA

100%
ON

OFF

Decline

2019-2020

0

Quarter 1

5

0

Quarter 2

0

0

Quarter 3

0

0

Quarter 4

0

0

Total

5

2020-2021

THEATRE (FEATURE)

58.3%
ON

OFF

Decline

24

2019-2020

2019-2020

5

Quarter 1

65

27

Quarter 2

62

45

Quarter 3

69

26

Quarter 4

51

103

Total

247
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2020-2021

THEATRE (TRAILER)

69.2%
ON

OFF

Decline

2019-2020

9

Quarter 1

80

31

Quarter 2

89

31

Quarter 3

60

17

Quarter 4

57

88

Total

221

2020-2021

GAMES

2.71%
ON

OFF

Decline

2019-2020

68

Quarter 1

70

64

Quarter 2

64

46

Quarter 3

39

37

Quarter 4

48

215

Total

221

2020-2021

PUBLICATIONS

ON

OFF

No Change

2019-2020

0

Quarter 1

0

0

Quarter 2

0

0

Quarter 3

0

0

Quarter 4

0

0

Total

0

2020-2021

FILM FESTIVALS

38.1%
ON

OFF

Decline

2019-2020

1

Quarter 1

5

5

Quarter 2

4

5

Quarter 3

10

2

Quarter 4

2

13

Total

21
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2.

NAVIGATING CLASSIFICATION IN A PANDEMIC

FPB moved to a remote classification system in
response to the COVID-19 pandemic, that continued
under the various lockdown levels during the review
period. The remote classification model requires that
strict protocols be observed to protect the security and
confidentiality of content submitted for classification
before release. This allowed for business continuity on
the part of FPB and distributors, ensuring that content
can be distributed during the ongoing pandemic.
Distributors of public entertainment and film festivals
were particularly hard hit by the pandemic with
the closure of cinemas and physical venues for a
prolonged period. FPB Classifiers returned to theatres
five months after the start of lockdown, in September
of 2020, to classify features and trailers scheduled
for theatre release. Strict COVID-19 safety and
monitoring protocols were developed and enforced
once Classifiers could return to physical venues for
classification.
Film festival organisers had to postpone schedules
to find effective solutions to the pandemic. Unlike
theatre releases, festivals could move into the virtual
space. The challenge was finding the appropriate
technological solutions that would not compromise the
unique experience film festivals provide its audience,
alongside the networking and learning opportunities
for the makers of content. The first film festival that
was examined for exemption from classification was
submitted to FPB in September 2020 as a virtual
festival.

3.

IN WITH THE NEW AND
CELEBRATING THE OLD

30 September 2020 saw the end of the contractual
relationship between FPB and the 2017/2020 pool of
Classifiers. Some had served as classifiers for a period
of three (3) years whilst a significant number had served
the maximum six-year term permissible for Classifiers
at a time. The 2017/2020 pool of Classifiers was
instrumental in implementing the remote classification
model in response to the pandemic and navigating
the challenges of online training and development.
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Workshops and training evolved into a more practical,
self-learning and assessment methodology completed
in smaller groups to conduct these online sessions
with maximum effect.
The 2017/2020 pool of Classifiers participated in the
technical review of the FPB Classification Guidelines
and the reviews of the Classification Governance
Framework and Standard Operating Procedures, all
whilst under lockdown level 5. The FPB expresses
gratitude to our Classifiers who continue to serve
selflessly and assist the FPB in fulfilling it’s public
mandate.
A new cohort of 37 Classifiers was recruited and
appointed in October 2020. Eight Classifiers that
served their first 3-year tenure and who were thus
still eligible to apply for a second term, were reappointed to the 2020/2023 pool of Classifiers after
being subjected to the rigorous recruitment process.
Three Classifiers that had served on previous pools
during the mid-to-late 2000s were appointed following
their mandatory break of no less than three years, and
a member of the previous FPB Appeal Tribunal was
appointed to the new pool.
A former young professional (intern) in the Classification
team was appointed, along with a former intern in the
Research and Advocacy Unit of the FPB. One of the
research field workers involved in the FPB Convergence
Survey Study is also part of the 2020/2023 pool of
Classifiers.
The new pool of Classifiers underwent in-depth
induction on the mandate and strategic direction of
FPB, as well as the legislative frameworks that govern
the regulation and classification of content. Included
in the 5-day induction programme was training on the
principles of the FPB Classification Guidelines for the
classification of features, trailers, games, applications
for exemption from classification for film festivals and
other bona fide applications. The induction programme
was swiftly followed by 3 days of intensive practical
training in November 2020 on each of the classifiable
elements of the FPB Classification Guidelines. The
programme further included practical training on all
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aspects of the classification report writing process and
the standard operating procedures for each category
of content submitted for exemption or classification.
Classification decisions for two animated, childorientated films were appealed by distributors during
the review period. This prompted the focus of training
in the fourth quarter on the scientific approach of
classification to achieve the least restrictive age
rating, supported by empirical evidence, that displays
high levels of critical thinking and logical reasoning.
The classification decision must be reasonable and
tangible against the potential of harm for children under
the age of 7, especially moral harm. In the absence of
moral harm, parental guidance is sufficient to provide
context to a child where more complex themes and
messaging are present in fantastical films, and films
that may portray real life experiences in animated form.
Drawing on the lessons learned from Appeal Tribunal
decisions of animated films, more restrictive age ratings
may limit the right of a child to access information,
experience educational opportunities contained in the
content and be entertained. Constitutional principles in

the proportional balancing of rights and the protection
of children from potentially disturbing and ageinappropriate content requires vigorous analysis by
Classifiers. A thorough deliberation such as this would
result in parents and caregivers making informed
viewing and gaming choices for children in their care.

4.

CONTENT SUBMISSIONS – SIX (6)
YEAR ANNUAL COMPARISON

The six-year annual comparison of the rate of content
submissions (2015/2016 to 2020/2021) indicates
a striking decline of 66.9%. Rejections because of
non-compliance with the regulations declined by
45.2% while appeals against the FPB classification
declined by 40%. The latter is a good indication of
the improved understanding of the FPB’s regulations
and classification guidelines by distributors due to
stakeholder education sessions conducted over the
years. While the decreasing rate of content submission
is troubling, the effect of the Covid-19 Lockdown on
distributors in 2020/2021 cannot be overlooked. See
figure 2 and figure 3 on the following page:

Financial Year Submissions

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21
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Annual Comparison of Submissons Received
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SUBMISSIONS RECIEVED

5.

CLASSIFICATION OF CONTENT
TURNAROUND TIMES

deliver on its service delivery promise for 33.1% of the
content classified, as can be seen in table 1 below.
The shift to remote classification due to the COVID-19
lockdown is a major contributory factor towards this.
Slow adoption of new digital content classification
methods, the change management process that had
to be implemented to speed up adoption, as well as
shortcomings in ICT infrastructure also contributed to
this disappointing result.

The FPB has put in place service delivery standards
to assess performance against its service delivery
promise of eight (8) days turnaround for content
classification. During the year under review, the
organisation managed to achieve eight days turnaround
times 66,9% of the time, with 29,98% of that classified
within 5-6 days. The organisation however failed to

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

TOTAL NUMBER
PER
ANNUM

TOTAL
%

Number of Classification content
processed within the 5-days turnaround
time

41

55

21

59

176

29,98%

Number of classification content
processed within the 6-8 days
turnaround time

35

86

27

64

212

36,11%

Number of classification content
processed above the 8-day turnaround
time

9

16

127

47

199

33,90%

TURNAROUND TIMES
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OVERALL
%

Classified within
turnaround time.
66,10%

33,90%
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6.

REGISTRATIONS AND RENEWALS
SIX (6) YEAR COMPARISON

We attribute the drastic decline in applications
received to the harsh national lockdown restrictions
having adverse effects on distributors and exhibitors.
The lockdown exacerbated an already noticeable
decline over the year particularly in the cinema and
DVD distribution markets. As table 2 below shows,
a significantly lower number of applications received
during Q2 and Q3 than in the first and last quarters of
the year under review, coincides with the periods during
which the harshest national lockdown restrictions were
implemented.

The rate of applications received for new registrations/
renewals declined by 38,24% during the year under
review (2020/2021 FY) when compared with the
number of applications received for the period
2019/2020, a decline from 3865 received applications
to 2387 received applications. This is the lowest
number of applications received during the six-year
period spanning 2015/2016 FY to 2020/2021 FY, as
illustrated by table 2 below.
APPLICATIONS

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

TOTAL

Applications Received

707

480

417

783

2 387

Rejections

184

157

95

205

641

O

0

0

0

0

523

323

322

578

1746

Cancellations
New Registrations/ Annual Renewals Processed for Certification

4500

(2020/21)

(2019/20)

Reg/Renewals Processed

(2017/18)
Rejections

269

2203
(2018/19)

465

607

0

1050

500

1746
641

1000

2481

2807

1500

(2016/17)

399

2387

2000

2815

2500

2472

3000

3401
2936

3414

3500

2880

3865

4000

(2015/16)

Applications Received
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The organisation has managed to meet and even
exceed targets on its service delivery promise of an
8-day turnaround time as shown in table 3. 100%
of applications for registrations / renewals were
processed within 8 days, with 99% of these processed
within 5-6 days. This is largely due to the efficiency

of the in-house management system for processing
registrations and renewals and the advantage of having
the administration of registrations being centralized
in the Client Support Unit. Despite the lockdown
restrictions, the FPB was able to continue to receive
and process registration applications.

FIGURE 2: TOTAL APPLICATIONS FOR
REGISTRATIONS/ RENEWALS OVER

TOTAL

TOTAL

ANNUAL

%

578

1731

99%

3

0

15

1%

0

0

0

0%

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Number of registrations and renewals
processed within the 5-days turnaround time

523

311

319

Number of registrations and renewals
processed within the 8-day turnaround time

0

12

Number of registrations and renewals
processed above the 8-day turnaround time

0

0

SIX YEARS 2015/2016 FY – 2020/2021

OVERALL %

TURNAROUND TIMES

7.

ONLINE CONTENT
DISTRIBUTORS

The status of online distributors on FPB database for
the 2020/2021 FY, as shown in figure 5 below, indicates
that there was a total of 17 online distributors. Five (5)
of these had valid online agreements in place, four (4)
were in the consultation phase with the FPB to renew,
while one (1) was non-compliant and one (1) had
closed trading online.
The lack of legislative power to enforce online
distributor compliance posed a huge challenge for the
organisation. The Films and Publications Amendment
Act 2019, which is yet to be operationalised by
presidential proclamation, as well as the recently
approved Films and Publications regulations, have
non-compliance penalties that would assist the
organisation to exercise its enforcement powers.
In the year under review, a major coup for the FPB has
been the conclusion of a distributor agreement with
international online giant, Netflix.
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COMPLIANCE STATUS

6

Total: 17

1
1

The Compliance and Monitoring team found that 1102
distributors were found to be non-compliant with
various sections of the Films and Publications Act and
767 non-compliant notices were issued. It is important
to note than one distributor of content can be noncompliant with various sections of the FP Act and will
be issued with several non-compliance notices. 69%
of non-compliant distributors were issued notices for
distributing content in physical format in-store whilst
59% of online distributors were notified of their noncompliance with the FP Act.

5

4
VOD platforms closed
Non-Compliant
Compliant
New

In Consultation to Renew agreement

8.

COVID-19 DID NOT DETER
MONITORING OF DISTRIBUTOR
COMPLIANCE

Despite the hard lock down that started before quarter
one of the 2020/2021 financial year, the physical
compliance team adapted rapidly and moved to the
online monitoring space to ensure business continuity
and compliance of distributors. Physical Compliance
Officers received training form FPB’s Online Monitoring
team in aspects such as online monitoring techniques
and the reporting system.
With the lessening of strict COVID-19 protocols, the
Physical Compliance Monitoring team went back into
the field around June of 2020. This resulted in a total
of 11 623 online and physical inspections conducted
during the period with no significant reduction of
inspections during quarter one and subsequent
lockdown restrictions imposed in quarters three and
four of the financial year.

As industry responded to the challenges of the
COVID-19 pandemic, FPB Compliance Monitoring
team continued to assist organisers of film festivals
to ensure compliance and 11 engagements were held
with existing and new film festivals. Monitoring was
done both at physical and virtual film festivals. Popup drive-ins and film festivals became part of the new
phenomena of the pandemic and compliance monitors
continued to assist these innovators and entrepreneurs
to ensure compliance with the Films and Publications
Act, in the quest to ensure the protection of children,
especially where content is streamed online.
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pandemic, as children spent more time in virtual space
and offenders also migrated online to find their victims,
thus increasing the global traffic of sexual predation,
and online child sexual abuse offenses. The team
participated in forums such as the UN Convention
on the Rights of the Child, aimed at aligning online
child protection with the Convention, as well as the
Department of Social Development’s Online Safety
dialogue, to mention but a few.
Nine cases were referred to FPB through the CSAM/
Hotline Reporting system or by direct email. One of
these cases involved the creation of child sexual abuse
material. A new case of creation and distribution of
sexual images by a minor was recorded and another
which involved the alleged sexual solicitation of an
adult by a minor. This diverts away from the trend of the
previous year where none of the Child Protection Unit
cases involved the creation of child pornography and
was limited to images distributed, but not generated,
by the perpetrator, but where images were rather
collections created from websites.

9.

REACHING AND PROTECTING
CHILDREN AND CAREGIVERS
AMIDST THE PANDEMIC

The FPB Child Protection Unit spearheaded the FPB
Multi-Unit Outreach this year that was conducted
virtually during the first quarter for Child Protection
Week in response to the COVID lockdown. The 16
Days of Activism flagship campaign, also managed on
behalf of the organisation by the Child Protection Unit,
could be hosted in person in communities in quarter 3
as the country moved out of hard lockdown.
The FPB’s partnership with anti-Child Sexual
Abuse Material (CSAM) advocates, the International
Association of Internet Hotlines (INHOPE), continued
in the virtual space and the team attended six
engagements on the landscape of online child
sexual exploitation. Joining forces with other key
stakeholders in the online child protection sphere
was especially crucial in response to the COVID-19
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The Child Protection team worked on 23 suspected
CSAM cases referred by the Family and Child Protection
Services (FCPS) division of the South African Police
Services (SAPS). Three of these were carried over from
the previous financial year whilst no new cases were
submitted in the first quarter due to the COVID-19 hard
lockdown. The rest of the period under review saw the
submission of 20 cases in rapid succession with 50%
(10 cases) received from Gauteng; seven from the
Western Cape, and two cases from Limpopo.
18 Cases were completed in the year despite the
challenges faced by the pandemic lockdown. 733, 810
images were examined of which 3.7% (27,174) were
found to constitute child sexual abuse material. Only
three cases did not contain any child sexual abuse
material. Once case received from the Western Cape
contained 417 DVDs with video footage of suspected
child pornography with 21 of those DVDs confirmed to
contain video footage of child sexual abuse material.
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Reported Cases

01
23 suspected CSAM
cases referred by SAPS.

02
3 cases carried over from
2019/2020.

03
10 cases (50%) received
from Gauteng.

04
7 cases received from
Western Cape.

05

The Child Protection team attended court on three
occasions during the second and third quarters of
the year to provide expert testimony. None of these
cases have yet been concluded. However, sentencing
was handed down in Oudtshoorn Regional court on
a previous case1 and the accused was sentenced
to 20 years imprisonment for possession of child
pornography2, sexual exploitation of children3, rape4
and sexual assault5.
Similarly, FPB’s Compliance Monitoring Unit also made
court appearances in cases against perpetrators that
distribute illegal and unclassified content to the public.
In the Northern Region alone, FPB attended court
nine times during the period under review and two
convictions were secured whilst the remainder of the
cases are still pending.
Despite the hard lock down that continued for most of
the first quarter, the FPB Compliance Monitoring team
conduced 44 Law Enforcement Agency workshops
and 29 training Workshops to empower cinema staff
on the importance of adhering to classification ratings.
Of importance is the continued strengthening of
stakeholder relationships that engage communities in a
holistic manner, not only on the work of the FPB, but the
full spectrum of social crime prevention mechanisms
available to them. This enhances the knowledge of
communities about their Constitutional rights, and
ultimately, continues to build social cohesion whilst
protecting children and advising consumers to make
informed viewing, gaming and reading choices.

2 cases received frim
Limpopo.

06
733 810 images analysed
with 3.7% CSAM.

1

Caltizdorp CAS 101/01/2018

2

40 (Forty) charges of Section 74(B)1(a) Act 65/1996

3

2 (two) charges of Section 204 Act 32/2007

4

4 (four) charges of Section 3 Act 32/2007

5

6 (six) charges of Section 5(1) Act 32/2007
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Operationalisation of the Amendment Act provisions
is dependent on the review and alignment of the
Films and Publications Regulations, 2014. This will
ensure the Regulations continue to be in line with the
constitutional values, aimed at protecting children
from disturbing and harmful content, but also to
make adequate provision for technological advances,
especially on online platforms.

In the year under review, raids were conducted with Law
Enforcement Agencies during which illegal content was
confiscated and destructed to protect consumers from
potentially harmful and age-inappropriate material.
The Compliance Monitoring team conducted 94 raids
and three destructions took place during the year
under review. In the Northern and Western Regions a
total of 1,273 discs that contained adult pornography
were destructed, with 11 discs containing bestiality.
The street value of these destructed discs amounted
to more than R10 million, thus protecting the creative
industry from loss of income from piracy.

10. FILMS AND PUBLICATIONS
AMENDMENT ACT AND
REGULATIONS
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The FPB focused its endeavours on the publication
of the draft Films and Publications Amendment
Regulations during the 2020/2021 financial year, with
a view to securing public comments and input. These
revised Amendment Regulations with public inputs
were approved by the Minister of Communications
and Digital Technologies on 27 February 2020 and
published in the Government Gazette to secure public
input from those potentially affected by or interested in
the Regulations.
Amid the precautionary lockdown and social distancing
measures imposed to mitigate against the spread
of the COVID-19 virus, the publication of the Notice
and the Amendment Regulations in the Government
Gazette could only take place on 3 July 2020 under
review.
By doing so, it would promote more sustainable
outcomes through the recognition, communication
and establishment of the needs and interests of the
public.
The Amendment Regulations were then submitted
to the Minister of Communications and Digital
Technologies in December 2020, pending approval.

On 19 March 2019, at a Plenary Session of the National
Assembly, the Films and Publications Amendment
Bill, 2015 was put to a vote and was passed. Having
been assented to by both Houses of Parliament, the
President of the Republic of South Africa assented to
the Bill on 19 September 2019 thereby bringing into
promulgation the Films and Publications Amendment
Act (FPA Act).

In addition to the above, the LRA provided the following
support to the organisation:

The FPA Act comes into operation, however, on a date
still to be fixed by the President by proclamation in the
Government Gazette.

•

Compiling quarterly reports having considered and
reviewed the monthly reports by Quality Assurers;

•

Participating in processes to capacitate internal
and external stakeholders on the Reviewed
Classification Guidelines of the FPB;

•

Providing technical guidance
Protection Unit when required;

•

Considering

and

representing

to
the

the

Child

FPB

in

FILM AND PUBLICATION BOARD
ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

applications before the Appeals Tribunal;
•

Conducting quarterly review of the development
and establishment of a legal compliance system,
and compiling of quarterly compliance registers for
respective Business Units for their consideration
and review;

•

Managing litigation on a continuous basis and
the provision of quarterly updates in the Litigation
Register;

•

Providing legal support (vetting of Service Level
Agreements, Memoranda of Understanding, Online
Distribution Agreements and Legal Opinions)
relating to requests to the LRA;

•

Overseeing contract management for the FPB;
and

•

Timely managing the general office administration.

11. QUERIES MANAGEMENT
Queries management is one of the key functions of
the Client Support Unit. The distributors, members
of the public, NGO’s, civil society organisations as
well as other government departments are the major
stakeholders of the organisation.
There was a total of 4 018 queries received for the
period of 1 April 2020 to March 2021, of these, 3 890

(96.81%) were resolved within the set turnaround
times and 128 (3.19%) were resolved out of the set
turnaround times. The bulk of the queries were for
Registration / renewals and Classification.
There were 2 196 (54.7%) registration / renewal
queries received which consisted of new registrations,
renewals, tariffs and general registration queries. A
total of 1 199 (29.8%) classification queries were
received with regards to the age ratings of films that
were classified and screened. Another category of
queries revolved around classification: the progress
of classification by distributors, requirements for
classification, requests for classification reports,
queries on invoices and requests for classification
screenings.
The Client Support Unit received 166 (4.1%) queries
from distributors with regards to non-compliance due
to not being registered or licenses having expired.
These queries were mainly received from the online
monitors with regards to non-compliant distributors.
The distributors were contacted, and the relevant
information given to them to ensure compliance.
There were also 457 (11.4%) general queries received
and resolved. The queries consisted of information
on vacancies, tenders, accounts, mandate of the
FPB, industry requirements, workshops, public
engagements, etc.
TOTAL

Q1 2020/2021

Q2 2020/2021

Q3 2020/2021

Q4 2020/2021

Classification

235

231

348

385

1199

Registration

335

564

619

678

2196

General

65

210

91

91

457

Non Compliance

39

65

30

32

166

Total

674

1070

1088

1186

4018

Resolved within
turnaround times

663 (98.37%)

1035 (96.73%)

1056 (97.06%)

1136 (95.78%)

3890 (96.81%)

Resolved out of
turnaround times

11 (1.63%)

35 (3.27%)

50

128

32

(2.94%)

(4.22%)

2020/2021

(3.19%)
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Classification

2196
Non-compliance

457
General

166
Registration/Renewals

1199

12. INFORMATION AND
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY
Over the Financial Year (FY): 2020/2021, the Information
and Communication Technology (ICT) Division
achieved 88% of its Annual Performance Plan (APP)
deliverables against the annual ICT plan. This marks
year two of the Division’s contribution towards the
implementation of the FPB’s Digital Agenda Strategy,
aimed at optimizing the use of the technology to
automate transactional services, increasing efficiency
and providing digital services to clients and partners.

The role of ICT within the Film and Publication Board
includes providing world-class infrastructure and
applications that will enable the organization to deliver
on its mandate and championing the strategic use of
technology for seamless business operations. Like
all industries, the media and entertainment industry
are constantly being re-imagined and disruption is
our refrain. The ICT unit played a critical role as a
catalyst for ushering FPB into the 4IR in adopting new
technologies and adapting to new trends for effective
industry regulation.

Modernisation

ICT Governance
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The annual ICT plan set a foundation for successful
execution of the Digital Agenda strategy and key
amongst the achieved targets includes the following:
•

Review and approval of the ICT governance
framework, aligned to FPB governance structures.

•

In implementing the Digital Agenda Strategy vision,
an Enterprise Architecture for FPB was developed.

•

Implementation of an ICT Security Framework
to curb the increase in security threats against
the stability of the organisational information and
technology assets. The ICT Security framework is
ideal to ensure a coordinated approach towards
implementation of ICT security or cybersecurity
related prevention, detection and response
initiatives.

•

To ensure that FPB applications are stable
and responsive, the functionality gaps on the
applications were identified and resolved. This
included the development of the applications
portfolio rationalization approach that ensures a
consolidated, integrated and scalable applications
portfolio for FPB. A rationalized applications
portfolio is ideal to ensure responsive applications
that meets requirements of FPB. One of the key
deliverables in the applications domains is the
completion of the development and testing of the
FPB Mobile Application.

•

Maintenance of the FPB ICT infrastructure together
with applications was implemented for the period
under review with no major incident recorded that
impacted business operations.

•

To ensure a resilient ICT environment, the biannual testing of the Business Continuity (BC)
and Disaster Recovery (DR) capability was
conducted with identified improvement actions
also implemented.

•

ICT policies were reviewed together with
development of supporting procedure documents.

For the period under review, the ICT division functioned
without key resources with the CIO’s resignation.These
proved to be very challenging for the unit to function
optimally. The targets that were not achieved can be
directly attributed to the resource challenge.
The 2020/2021 annual ICT plan aims for the
implementation of initiatives identified in the adopted
enterprise architecture.
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FPB’sDIGITALAGENDA
To enable technology capabilities to automate transactional services and optimise available
solutions for increased efficiency and provisioning of digital services to clients and partners.

DIGITISATION
Enable technology capabilities to automate
transactional services optimise available solutions
for increased efficiency and provisoning of digital
services to clients and partners.

DATE ANALYTICS &
BUSINESS INTELLIGENCE
Deliver an integrated data analytics capability
to enable increased usage of data for effective
decision making, saving of data, provision of trends
and business analytics as well as data protection.

TEHNOLOGY TRENDS ADOPTION
Research, adopt and use technologies that are
driving the 4IR to enable capabilities characterised
by innovative technologies.

IMPROVE ICT GOVERNANCE
SECURITY
To ensure effective governance to best practices
for ICT, alignment of all deliverables with
organisational requirements and optimisation of
available resources.

LEVERAGEING AGENCY
TRANSFORMATION
Contribute to building a pool of ICT skills (industry
specific) with a focus on 4IR readiness, core and
critical scarce skills.
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13.

RESEARCH, POLICY AND
ADVOCACY

The 2020/2021 year under review was particularly
eventful for the Research, Policy and Advocacy (RPA)
business unit. The flagship project, the Convergence
Survey, was finalised and launched.
The second flagship project, the highly innovative
Content Classification Index, was conceptualised
with support from colleagues who participated in
the Reference Team to work on the modalities and
‘prototype’ of an index on content regulation. The
University of Pretoria was appointment as the service
provider to conduct this exploratory research in
establishing a CCI index for the FPB. Towards the end
of the fiscus, work had started, and 5 country reports
were completed of the expected 8.
The RPA Unit supported the Legal and Regulatory
Affairs Manager to produce and finalise a SocioEconomic Impact Assessment (SEIAS) as part of
the Legislative review process as well as the Human
Capital Unit to conduct two wellness engagement
surveys during Covid19 assessing the mental and
general wellness levels of staff.
Excellent progress was made on the document
management front of the unit’s work. A sound records
management system is a cornerstone of the Research,
Policy and Advocacy Strategy. Having appointed
a Resource Centre Coordinator in July 2020, work
commenced on a clean-up of the Enterprise Content
Management (ECM) system which currently houses all
FPB’s internal documents. This involved completing
an audit of records saved in the system. The naming
convention and taxonomy for document naming was
shared with the appointed Knowledge and Information
Management Champions (KIM Champions).
It has been noted with concern that staff have been
using the system less than optimally, citing lack of
reliability of the system. Plans are underway, working
with ICT, to replace the system with a more reliable,
modernised and efficient document management
system. The records management strategy and policy
documents were completed. Two workshops were
held with employees to ensure buy-in and solicit inputs
to the draft review documents.

A marketing strategy to increase the usage of the
Resource Centre was developed and approved by
Management. This strategy will involve procuring the
services of an online journal portal, purchasing of
books selected by staff, as well as through linkages
with tertiary institutions offering courses that intersect
with the work of the FPB.
RIDAKT: A brainstorming session was held to develop
a multi-media mobile installation and exhibition on the
‘Evolution of content classification, from censorship
during apartheid, to the democratisation era and into
the future”, reflecting both a historical perspective and
the impact of the Fourth Industrial Revolution on the
work of the FPB. This project will be concluded over
the next two financial years.
The RPA unit is exceedingly small with a concomitant
small budget of less than R1million per annum. To
circumvent its capacity limitations and to leverage
capacity found externally, a Research Reference
Group (RRG) was established and continued to play
a pivotal role. The RRG is made up of experts and
academics in areas that intersect with the work of the
FPB. These include social media law, child protection,
data analytics, monitoring and evaluation, in addition
to strong academic research expertise.
Our two flagship projects referred to above deserve
special mention. The Convergence Survey has been
a project underway for some time and was beset with
several challenges throughout its lifecycle. Through
perseverance and innovative thinking, however, the
project was finalised and presented to the RRG,
the Management Committee and the Executive
Committee for inputs. A final report was produced
and launched in February 2021. It was also presented
at the FPB’s flagship Safer Internet Day event. and
at the Conference on the Harmonization of Content
Regulation in Africa in 2021. An opinion piece was
published in several publications as well as on the
INHOPE website. Additionally, an abstract was drafted
for punting to various international and domestic peerreviewed journals.
The innovative Content Classification Index (CCI) was
developed with input from FPB staff in Operations
(Classification, Client Support, and Quality Assurer for
the classifiers), an approach adopted to break silos.

39

FILM AND PUBLICATION BOARD
ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

A prototype was developed and a framework for
analysis was developed. Work is underway on the
project, with international benchmarking done with
the Australian, South African, Canadian and European
Union models. It is envisaged that this project, modelled
after peer indexes such as the Mo Ibrahim Index of
African Governance and the African Peer Review
Mechanism, will gain momentum with our vision of it
being a standard bearer for content regulation on the
continent.
The unit continued its role as part of the Advisory Group
for the GTZ (German Government and the UN Women)
funded project “Step it up for Gender”, to combat the
gender-stereotyping in the media that contributes to
gender-based violence.
Focus group discussions with experts on a range of
areas impacting our work were moderated, notably
one with experts in the video gaming sector. Inputs
from this focus group discussion strengthened
the framework of analysis for the gaming research
envisaged for the 2021/2022 financial year.

necessary platforms for participating in virtual public
education outreaches during a pandemic lockdown.
The solution for the FPB was to reach out to those
with virtual access, key gatekeepers of messages in
society: educators, parents, caregivers and community
workers, using a “train the trainer” approach.
Despite the challenges of social distancing, the FPB
continued its public education mandate successfully
thanks to its ability to adapt quickly to change, hosting
its four targeted flagship campaigns: Child Protection
Week in June 2020 (online event); Women’s Month in
August 2020 (online event); 16 Days of Activism against
Gender-Based Violence in November/December 2020
(live events in Western Cape and KwaZulu Natal); and
Safer Internet Day on 9 February 2021 (online Expo
style event). The tools used followed the lockdown
level regulations closely, either completely online or
with smaller numbers of attendees in live formats.

Lastly, the innovative Matshohlo discussion forums (12
in total) continued to bring staff across the organisation
together, like a warm fire in the winter of the Covid-19
pandemic, to discuss issues of interest from the point
of view of staff members.

14.

COMMUNICATIONS AND
STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

“If you want to go quickly, go alone. If you want to go
far, go together.” – African Proverb
Described as one of the most volatile years in
human history, the undisputed top headline maker in
2020/2021 was the Corona Virus pandemic, leaving
not a single part of existence unaffected. This disruptor
kept every employee at the FPB on their toes. One of
the core deliverables of the organisation is centred
around public education. The social distancing that
came hand-in-hand with fighting a global pandemic for
many months on end required great adaptability and
agility on the part of the team tasked with disseminating
information on the work of the FPB. This is especially
true in a country where a large portion of the public
do not enjoy access to data, digital devices or the
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The success and reach of FPB’s public education
activities are premised on the close working relationship
between FPB’s Communications, Child Protection and
Compliance Monitoring Units, who work together to
reach all corners of the country. Strong networks with
external stakeholders further raise the impact level of
outreach campaigns.
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advertising campaigns (Quarter 4); one print media
advertising campaign (Quarter 2); and one print
media advertising campaign (Quarter 4).

Due to the Covid lockdown, the flagship “Harmonisation
of Content Regulation in Africa Conference” was
originally postponed from a live event with stakeholders
across Africa in March 2020 to a hybrid live/online
event that successfully took place in March 2021. The
event attracted close to 150 delegates from a crosssection of disciplines, including content regulators,
the distributor sector, creatives, Non-Governmental
organisations and the youth. Countries in attendance
were: South Africa, Nigeria, Kenya, Lesotho, Malawi,
Eswatini, Zambia, Rwanda and Britain6.
A reliance on a multi-pronged and omni-channel
approach to content dissemination realised great
rewards in expanding the footprint of key messages
for flagship events as well as FPB mandate topics such
as Content Regulation and Compliance, Classification,
the Films and Publications Amendment Act, Cyber
Safety and Child Sexual Abuse Material (CSAM).
Following the “Create-Once-Publish-Everywhere”
approach espoused in its Communication Policy, the
FPB conducted:
•

6

Media Campaigns: two radio campaigns (in
Quarter 1 and Quarter 4); two street pole

•

Social Media Campaigns: Covid-19 information
in support of government’s campaign; Africa
Day; 3 x Classification: Know Your Ratings;
Child Protection Week; Women’s Month; Draft
Regulations unpacked; Cyber Security Month; 16
Days of Activism; Convergence Survey Launch;
Harmonisation Conference; Safer Internet Day
2021

•

Joint online campaigns with partner organisations:
World Vision SA; SA Arts and Culture Youth Forum
(SAACYF) workshops; Commission for Gender
Equality (CGE) Women’s Month; Gauteng Film
Commission (GFC).

In addition to flagship outreaches, 19 community
workshops and 5 classification-specific information
sharing sessions were hosted. The heat map in figure 9
below provides a summary of children reached by the
Communications, Compliance and Child Protection
Units in comparison with the previous year. The impact
of Covid-19 is clear, as the size of the footprint has
decreased substantially given our inability to work in
schools and conduct face-to-face outreaches. This is
a direct result of the strict lockdown levels in Q1 and
Q2 of the year, with schools closed and/or school’s
social distancing rules precluding access to learners.
As indicated above, access to data and devices by
learners further impacted on online learner outreaches
as a solution to the challenge.
Media relations during 2019/2020 was driven largely
through the distribution of 11 media releases and 7
thought leader articles. Some themes included the
draft Films and Publications regulations, fake news,
gender-based violence and toxic masculinity, cyber
safety, child pornography and the implications of
FPB’s Convergence Survey findings.
A Communication Toolkit and User Guide was designed
and implemented for use across all business units. This
tool will aide in creating a single consistent message,
for employees and child protection ambassadors to
“speak with one voice”.

INHOPE
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We were unable to achieve the target of increasing
media penetration by 5% over the previous year
given our inability to measure our statistics. The
media monitoring service terminated mid-year. The
lack of a media buying budget to support this target,

is a continued and ongoing challenge to position
the FPB as a thought leader – as the uptake on our
content is outside of our control. The Q4 Year on Year
comparisons below are indicative of this:

ADVERTISING VALUE
EQUIVALENT (AVE)

MENTIONS

REACH

YTD Total 2020/2021 (April
2020 – March 2021 )

R9,182,177

392

236,488,013

YTD total 2019/20 (April 2019
– March 2020)

R81,323,839

910

780,695,302

Stakeholder Agreements were concluded in the
year under review with the following 4 strategic
and high value partners: SA Arts and Culture Youth
Forum (SAACYF); Gauteng Film Commission (GFC);
Commission for Gender Equality (CGE) and Brand
South Africa. Implementation of these agreements will

continue into the next financial year, with the common
mandate areas of FPB and partner organisations’ as
pivotal points. As an entity with limited resources and
a national mandate, the FPB’s strategic impetus is to
maximise partnership agreements, both formal and
informal, as we work with and through partners.

23

Limpopo
Gauteng

835
142 North West

Mpumalanga
0

0

Free State
101 Northen Cape

0

134 Eastern Cape
889 Western Cape
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66

Limpopo

Mpumalanga
1344

North West

2188

Gauteng

1189

3823

925
1082 Free State

Northen Cape

KwaZulu
Natal

Eastern Cape

14737

1648

Western Cape
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Section
GOVERNANCE
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The Council of the FPB is responsible for monitoring
principles of corporate governance and completely
aligns itself with the application of the recommendations
of the King report on governance (King IV). The Council
is committed to corporate processes and ensures that
FPB operations are conducted ethically, taking into
account best practice.
To the best of the Council’s knowledge, information and
belief, the FPB complied with applicable legislation,
policies and procedures, as well as the codes of
governance in the review period.

for day-to-day management of the FPB’s activities
is delegated to the management team through a
Delegation of Authority Framework approved by the
Council. The mandate, role and responsibilities of the
Council are stipulated in the Council charter as set out
in the FP Act.
As previously mentioned, the Council underwent a
transition during the financial year, as its term ended in
the 3rd quarter. The position of the Council members
at the time of review was vacant in the 4th quarter.

Delegation of authority
Council Charter
The Council has adopted a formal charter which
clearly articulates its duties and responsibilities, and
which is reviewed and approved bi-annually. The
Council Charter is closely aligned with King IV. The
Council confirms that, during the period under review,
it satisfactorily discharged its duties and obligations as
contained in the Council Charter.

Composition of the Council and its
role
The FPB Council comprised of 10 (ten) Council
members, from diverse backgrounds, appointed by the
Minister of Communication and Digital Technologies
based on experience, technical skills, qualifications,
and knowledge. The Minister of Communication
and Digital Technologies appointed the Council on 2
December 2015 and its term came to an end on the 3
December 2020 in line with section 6 and 8 of the FP
Act.
The primary responsibility of the Council is the
leadership of the FPB, strategic direction and policy,
operational performance, financial matters, risk
management and compliance. It is responsible for
the general management and control, exercising
leadership, integrity and judgement in directing the
FPB, based on transparency, accountability and
responsibility. The Council is the focal point of the
corporate governance system of the FPB. Authority

The Council exercises oversight authority to lead,
control and manage the business of the FPB. Through
a delegation-of-authority framework, the Council has
delegated certain powers and functions to the Chief
Executive Officer and Executive Committee (Exco) to
manage the day-to-day business affairs of the FPB.
The delegation of authority assists the Chief Executive
and Exco in decision making and meeting strategic
objectives without absolving the Council of its
accountability and responsibilities for the FPB. There
are, however, some non-delegated matters reserved
for approval by the Council and/or the Minister of
Communication and Digital Technologies in terms of
the FP Act, Council charter and delegation-of-authority
document.

Minimising conﬂict of interest
Conflict of interest is managed through mandatory
annual declarations of interest. The Council Charter
details the importance of declaring any conflict of
interest and contains provisions for dealing with such
conflicts.

Code of Conduct
The Code of Conduct regulates and controls the
Council members’ conduct and behaviour and
applies to Council as well as its Committees and
other meetings relating to the affairs of the Board. The
Code of Conduct requires the members to act with
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the utmost good faith, honesty, professionalism, and
integrity in all their dealings with the Board’s affairs.
The values encapsulated in the Code of Conduct are
continuously instilled through ongoing communication
and training.

Portfolio Committees
Parliament exercises its role through evaluating the
performance of the public entity by interrogating
their annual financial statements and other relevant
documents which have to be tabled from time to time.

of the Council Secretary are defined in the Council
Charter, read together with the Companies Act and
King IV report. The Council Secretary is responsible to
the Council through the Office of the CEO for inter alia,
ensuring compliance with procedures and applicable
statutes and regulations. All Council Members have
unlimited access to the advice and services of the
Council Secretary and all Council Members are
entitled to seek independent professional advice at the
FPB’s expense, concerning the affairs of the FP, after
obtaining the approval of the Chairperson.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts (SCOPA)
reviews the annual financial statements and the audit
reports of the external auditor.
The Portfolio Committee exercises oversight over the
service delivery performance of public entities and, as
such, reviews the non-financial information contained
in the annual reports of public entities, and is concerned
with service delivery and enhancing economic growth.
In the year under review, the FPB presented to the
Parliamentary Portfolio Committee on Communications
8 times on the Strategic plan and Annual performance,
quarterly reports as well as the annual performance
report and budget of the organization.

Executive Authority
Oversight by the Executive Authority rests by and large
on the prescripts of the PFMA. The PFMA governs/
gives authority to the Executive Authority for oversight
powers.
The Executive Authority also has the power to appoint
and dismiss the Board of a public entity. The Executive
Authority must also ensure that the appropriate mix of
executive and non-executive directors is appointed
and that directors have the necessary skills to guide
the public entity.
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The Council Secretary maintains an arm’s length
relationship with the Council and its members, and is
empowered with the necessary authority and support
to carry out her duties, which include: Maintaining all
statutory records; bi-annually reviewing all Council
and committee charters; Assisting the Chairperson
with the annual Council evaluation; Advising the
Council on business ethics and good governance;
Ensuring that the Council’s policies and instructions
are communicated to the appropriate persons in the
FPB; Ensuring that the Council receives adequate
information so as to make informed decisions; and
ensuring Council induction, training and development.
The Council is satisfied with her continuing suitability
for the position.

Council Secretary

Council meetings and Council
Committees

The Council Secretary has a pivotal role to play in
advising the Council on its roles and responsibilities,
amongst other duties. The roles and responsibilities

Council meetings are held at least once every quarter
and special meeting convened when necessary. In
the review period 9 scheduled meetings were held
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and several extraordinary meetings convened. Exco
members attend Council meetings are invitees. Details

COUNCIL

3
COMMITTEE
MEMBER

16-042020

19-082020
(MEETING
WITH DM)

of attendance are shown below:

COUNCIL

COUNCIL

COUNCIL

21-10-2020

30-06-

27-07-

23-09-

(STRATEGIC

2020

2020

2020

SESSION)

30-11-

01-12-

AGM 16-10-

2020

2020

2020

(COUNCIL

(SPECIAL)

MEETING)

COUNCIL))

1

Thoko Mpumlwana

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

2

Ms Sarah Mangena

3

3

3

µ

3

3

3

3

3

3

Adv Nevondwe

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

4

Ms Yoliswa Makhasi

3

µ

µ

µ

µ

µ

3

µ

µ

5

Mr A Ditlhake

3

3

µ

3

µ

µ

3

µ

µ

6

Ms N Dubazana

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

7

Dr N Skeepers

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

8

Adv Mudunungu

µ

µ

µ

µ

µ

µ

µ

µ

µ

9

Ms Z Nkosi*

µ

µ

µ

µ

µ

µ

3

µ

3

The members of Council have the following subcommittees:

Audit and Risk Committee (“the ARC”)
The audit and risk committee were appointed by the
Council of the FPB and has four independent nonexecutive Council members. The Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer are permanent
invitees to committee meetings while the Auditor
General attend by invitation.
The Audit Committee has adopted a Terms of
Reference based on the Public Finance Management
Act (“the PFMA”). The Audit Committee members have
considered and are of the view that they are effectively
independent of the Board and its management thereof.

Roles and responsibility
The committee is regulated by approved terms of
reference, and it is responsible for, inter alia, the review
of financial performance, external audit strategy and
reports, the internal audit function, risk management,
budgets, PFMA compliance, fraud and corruption,
information technology governance and the
monitoring of CAPEX projects. The terms of reference
are aligned with the requirements of the Public Finance
Management Act (PFMA), treasury regulations and
King IV.
During the period under review, the Finance Committee
met 5 times to review, inter alia, the year-end and
interim results of the Board as well as to consider
regulatory and accounting standards compliance.
(See the table below.)
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NUMBER
COMMITTEE MEMBER

29-09-2020
22-05-2020

(JOINT ARC)

FINCOM)

14-08-2020

29-10-2020

1

Ms Zanele Nkosi

3

3

3

3

3

2

Ms Sarah Mangena

3

3

3

3

3

3

Dr Natalie Skeepers

3

3

3

3

3

4

Adv Tokyo Nevondwe

3

3

3

3

3

FINANCIAL COMMITTEE (“the
FINCOM”)

financial reporting and related matters.

The Financial Committee was appointed by the Council
of the FPB and has four independent non-executive
Council members. The Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer are permanent invitees to
committee meetings. The FINCOM mainly assists
the Council by overseeing and providing guidance to
Management on financial administration, budgeting,

COMMITTEE MEMBER

22-05-2020

During the period under review, the FINCOM met 6
times to review, inter alia, major financial transactions
that fall within the threshold requiring Council approval
on behalf of Council. This also included conducting
quarterly review of financial statements, reviewing and
monitoring organisational cash flow reports, overseeing
and monitoring risk and control environments of the
finance unit. (See the table below.)

29-09-2020

(JOINT AC)

(JOINT AC)

05/11/2020

14-08-2020

07-09-2020

29-10-2020

1

Mr Matone Ditlhake

3

3

3

3

3

3

2

Ms Nobuntu Dubazana

3

µ

3

3

3

µ

3

Dr Natalie Skeepers

3

µ

3

3

3

3

Operations and ICT Committee (“the
OPITCOM”)
The OPITCOM was appointed by the Council of the FPB
and has four non-executive Council members. The Chief
Operating Officer, Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer are permanent invitees to committee
meetings. The duties and functions of the Committee
inter alia, includes: to provide oversight and advice to
Council on the strategic direction and activities of the
Operations and Shared Services Division, including but
not limited to planning, implementation, performance
reporting and risk monitoring in the following functions:
Industry Regulation of (i) Classification; (ii) Child
Protection; (iii)Communications and Public Education;

48

05-11-2020

(JOINT

(iv) Compliance Monitoring; (v) Facilities Management;
(vi) Legal and regulatory Framework and (vii) Research,
Policy and Advocacy. ICT governance: (i) Alignment
of IT with the business direction; (ii) Achievement of
strategic IT objectives; (iii) Availability of suitable IT
resources, skills and infrastructure; (iv) Optimisation of
IT costs and Risk, return and competitive aspects of IT
investments.
During the period under review, the Operations and ICT
Committee met 3 times to review FPB’s functions in
respect of operational, performance reporting and ICT
governance matters as well as make recommendations
to the Council regarding their relevance to the Board’s
mandate. (See the table below)
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COMMITTEE MEMBER

05/06/2020

28-08-2020

16/11/2020

1

Adv Lufuno Tokyo Nevondwe
(OPITCOM Chairperson)

3

3

3

2

Ms Nobuntu Dubazana

3

3

3

3

Ms Yoliswa Makhasi

µ

µ

µ

Human Resource and Remuneration
Committee (“the HR & REMCO”)
The HR & REMCO was appointed by the Council of the
FPB and has four non-executive Council members.
The Shared Services Executive, Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer are permanent invitees
to committee meetings. The duties and functions of
the Committee inter alia, includes: overseeing and
providing guidance to Management on human capital,
human resources, remuneration, recruitment and other
related matters.
During the period under review, the HR & REMCO met 3
times to the review the strategic direction and activities
of the Shared Services Division, with a particular focus
on Human Resources planning, administration and
remuneration.

Chairpersons Committee & Social and
Ethics Committee (“the CHAIRCO”)
The CHAIRCO is appointed by the Council of the
FPB and has four non-executive Council members.
The Chief Executive Officer is a permanent invitee to
committee meetings.
The CHAIRCO is responsible for performing advisory
functions to the Council and Chairperson. In addition,
the Chairpersons Committee is tasked with taking
decisions on any matters within the prerogative of
the Chairperson’s Committee, as well as other urgent
matters that will have an impact on the operations of
the FPB, except policy matters. The CHAIRCO is also
responsible for advising the Council on social and
ethics, safety, security and environmental matters.
During the period under review, the CHAIRCO met 3
times to assist the Council in respect of all activities of

the Council and its Committees.

COMMITTEE MEMBER

19-06-

11-09-

20-11-

2020

2020

2020

1

Mrs Thoko Mpumlwana

3

3

3

2

Ms Sarah Mangena

3

3

3

3

Adv Tokyo Nevondwe

3

3

3

4

Ms Yoliswa Makhasi

3

3

µ

5

Mr Matone Stephen Ditlhake

3

3

3

6

Ms Zanele Nkosi

3

3

µ

In the year under review Council’s term of office ended
on 2 December 2021, therefore Council meetings for
the fourth court were not held. The Minister appointed
the Acting Accounting Authority on 28 December 2020,
to act on behalf of the Council while the Department
of Communication and Digital Technologies were
finalizing the appointment of new Council of the FPB.
The Acting Authority met once, on 5 February 2021, to
discuss the performance report of the FPB.

Appeals Tribunal
The Appeals Tribunal is a creature of statute and is
empowered by the Films and Publications Act 65 of
1996 (as amended). The broad mandate of the Appeals
Tribunal is to hear appeals against classification
decisions made by the classification committees in
respect of publications, films, and games.
The Appeals Tribunal determines whether, on the
merits, the correct decision has been made by a
classification committee. It is required by the Act to be
independent and to carry out its functions without any
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bias. Parties appearing before the Appeals Tribunal
are entitled to be legally represented at the appeals. It
is important to note that the decisions of the Tribunal
are, in terms of section 20 (5) of the Act, decisions
of the Board and are thus final. A decision is made
immediately after the hearing, and reasons for the
decisions are provided within 14 working days. A draft
award is prepared by the Chairperson of the Tribunal
and circulated amongst all the participating members
for comment. All the comments are incorporated
into the final award, which is made available to the

APPEAL TRIBUNAL (AT) MEMBER

During the period under review, the Appeals Tribunal
met 3 times to to hear appeals against classification
decisions made by the classification committees in
respect of publications, films, and games and to give
judgement.

14-10-2020
(BARAKAT APPEAL)

09-11-2020
(100% WOLF
APPEAL)

26-11-2020
(THE CROODS
APPEAL)

1

Mr Christopher Mamathuntsha (Chairperson)

3

3

3

2

Ms Nonduduzo Samukelisiwe Khanyile

3

3

3

3

Ms Nonkoliso Isabela Sigcau

3

3

3

4

Mr Sizwe Lindelo Snail

µ

3

3

5

Ms Manko Thalitha Buffel

3

3

3

6

Mr Lutendo Joy Malada

µ

3

3

7

Prof Adelaide Simangele Magwaza

µ

3

3

8

Adv Thembelihle Mapipa Ndlovu

3

3

3

Council remuneration
Council remuneration is determined by the Minister
of Communication and Digital Technologies in
consultation with the Minister of Finance. Council
members are remunerated a sitting fee for meeting
attendance and preparation. Members are also
reimbursed for any travel expenses incurred. The
Council remuneration is disclosed in the Annual
Financial Statements.

Report of the Audit and Risk
Committee
The audit and risk committee is established in terms of
Section 51(1) (a) (ii), Section 77 of the Public Finance
Management Act (PFMA) read together with Treasury
Regulation 27.1 and acts as a governance structure of
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parties and to the classification committee. Concerted
efforts are made to ensure that the Appeals Tribunal
speaks with one voice, and the awards are drafted
to incorporate the diversity of views and opinions
expressed.

the entity. As required, the audit and risk committee
prepared a report in line with the requirements of
Treasury Regulation 27.1.
The committee, which comprises of 4 members
(refer to table below), has been mandated by Council
with oversight on audit matters, accounting, risk,
and compliance. During the year under review, the
committee has held all its scheduled meetings,
including joint, special meetings with the Finance
Committee, and members have continued to act with
due diligence and care in the discharge of their duties.

Members and attendance
The committee held four separate and two joint
meetings during the year:
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COMMITTEE MEMBER

22 -05-2020

29-09-2020
(JOINT
FINCOM)

05/11/2020
(JOINT ARC)

14-08-2020

29-10-2020

1

Ms Zanele Nkosi

3

3

3

3

3

2

Ms Sarah Mangena

3

3

3

3

3

3

Dr Natalie Skeepers

3

3

3

3

3

4

Adv Tokyo Nevondwe

3

3

3

3

3

Charter

Internal audit

The committee assists the Council in fulfilling its
oversight responsibilities, in particular, the evaluation
of the adequacy and efficiency of internal controls,
financial reporting process, risk management and
compliance.

During the 2020/2021 financial year, the committee
has:
•

Approved the 2020/2021 internal audit plan and
three-year rolling plan.

•

Reviewed and approved the internal audit charter.

•

Reviewed quarterly internal audit reports relating
to the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control
environment, systems, and processes.

•

Considered the quality and appropriateness
of management’s action plans in response to
identified shortcomings.

•

Considered the effectiveness of the internal audit
unit by monitoring progress and quality of work on
a quarterly basis.

Reviewed significant issues raised by both the
internal and external audit processes.

•

Considered the internal audit resources to ensure
the unit can effectively discharge all its functions.

Reviewed the effectiveness of the entity’s
financial controls and received assurance from
management, internal and external audit.

The internal audit unit managed to complete its annual
plan timeously for the year under review.

•

Reviewed the action plans in place to address the
shortcomings identified in controls.

Risk management

•

Reviewed policies and procedures for prevention
and detection of fraud.

To achieve this, the committee has for the current year,
reviewed, and adopted a charter that was approved by
Council. The committee confirms that it has complied
with both the charter and the statutory responsibilities
as detailed in the regulations mentioned above.

Effectiveness of internal controls
During the 2020/2021 financial year, the committee:
•
•

The committee identified shortcomings regarding the
process of discovery, reporting and recognition of
irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure.

As an essential element of governance and as stated
in the charter, the role of the committee is to provide
oversight on the systems and processes of risk
management within the entity. The committee receives
regular reports on both strategic and emerging risks of
the entity.
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During the 2020/2021 financial year, the committee
has:
•

Reviewed and recommended to Council, the risk
framework, strategy, and the implementation plan.

•

Reviewed and recommended to Council, the fraud
prevention strategy and implementation plan.

•

Reviewed and considered the annual strategic risk
register.

•

Reviewed on a quarterly basis, the implementation
of the planned mitigating actions against identified
risk.

•

Considered on a quarterly basis any emerging
risks, including those arising from fraud.

With the effects of COVID-19 and therefore more
reliance on IT systems, risk management processes in
the IT environment should be heightened. During the
2020/2021 financial year, the committee:
•

Considered the system and processes the entity
uses to ensure compliance to regulations.

•

Monitored compliance with laws and regulations.

•

Reviewed both internal and external audit reports
to identify any compliance issues.

Auditor’s Report
The committee has independently met with the external
auditors and can confirm that they are independent
and have conducted the audit without influence.
Implementation plans for audit issues raised in the
previous year were reviewed and there is satisfaction
as to the resolution of matters.
The committee has discussed the audit outcomes
with both management and AGSA. Based on these
discussions, the committee accepts the conclusions
and is of the opinion that the audited financial
statements be accepted and read together with the
report of the Auditor-General.

Appreciation
The committee expresses its appreciation to the
accounting authority, senior management team,
internal audit and the Auditor-General for their
continued support and dedication during the year
under review.

In-Year Management Reporting
The committee received and consistently reviewed both
financial and non-financial information and ensured
that monthly and quarterly reporting processes were
in accordance with the PFMA.

Finance function
The committee has considered the effectiveness of the
finance unit and is satisfied that the unit discharged its
functions accordingly for the year under review.

Evaluation of annual ﬁnancial
statements and performance
information
The committee has evaluated the financial statements
together with the performance information and based
on the processes and assurance obtained, recommend
submission to the Council for approval.

52

Zanele Nkosi
Chairperson: Audit and Risk Committee

FILM AND PUBLICATION BOARD

5
ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

Section
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COVID-19 presented the greatest challenge to the Human Capital (HC) Unit impacting the ability to work in-field;
creating work from home or remote working best practices and tools; supporting 15 employees having contracted
Covid19 and one resulting in an untimely death; measuring productivity; ensuring worklife balance under severe
stress; and implementing Covid19 protocols through the Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) Committee.
The agility with which the OHS committee responded is testimony to the organisation’s resilience in the face of a crisis.
The OHS committee managed to implement controls, contingency measures, and work-from-home interventions in
record time. Despite all negative impacts, the Unit maintained a balance between sound and effective administration
processes and its role in assisting the organisation to achieve excellence through the implementation of a holistic
and people-centric Human Capital Strategy.
An Employee Value Proposition project, which sought to measure productivity during the period under review, was
undertaken and will be conducted regularly into the future. This is a first and thus will prove to be a baseline for the
FPB. However, one may adduce that productivity declined during the year under review, directly attributed to the
number of vacancies, an increase in Covid-19 sick leave (inclusive of the 14-day self-isolation periods) and general
low morale.

Film And Publication Board Council
CEO (Acting)
A Mashele

Executive Assistant
M Mooketsi

Shared Services
Executive
L Less

PA to SSE
E Morotolo

Research Manager
A Dladla
HR Manager
Vacant

COO
A Mashele

Manager Communication &
Public Education
L Kamineth
Research and Resource
Centre Coordinator
K Theweli
Research Policy and
Advocacy Officer
O Makhalemela

Assistant Manager HR
J Steyn

Payroll Specialist
B Sambo

HR Officer
T Madutung

Driver Messenger
M Zulu

54

PA to COO
L Mkhwanazi

Admin Assistant
L Fanqa

CFO
M Chowan

PA to CFO

CIO
R Tjabadi

Admin Assistant

W Mwelase (Secondment from Sita)

Z Mgolombane

Digital Content
Coordinator
L Mosala
Assistant Manager
Communication &
Public Education
M Botolo

Strategic Partnership
Coordinator
T Muvhali

Campaign &
Outreach Coordinator
O Maimane

Campaign &
Outreach Officer
S Seti

Marketing and
Events Coordinator
S Mangoloti

Document Management
Officer
K Theweli
C1 – C5

D1 – D5

E1 – E5

Vacant

Under Office

B1 – B5

FILM AND PUBLICATION BOARD
ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21
Desktop Support
Technician
S Ndlovu

Manager ICT
S Lebepe

ICT Security Officer
Vacant

LAN Administrator
A Vili

Business Analyst
N Chauke

Application Assistant
Under offer
Ms

Assistant Manager
Finance
C Mabuza

System Administrator
M Makale

Senior Finance Officer
D Mmako
Corporate services
Specialist
J Peele

System Analyst/
Developer
B Gumede
Manager Finance
V Matidza

Manager Internal
Audit
Vacant

Junior SCM Officer FTC
T Moremi

Manager: SCM
L Mogoatlhe

Legal Officer
Vacant
Manager Legal &
Regulatory Affairs
P Gregonou

Corporate Services
Officer
C Dhanraj
General Administrator
x3
A Makhubo,
D Mushathaama,
A Makhubo

Internal Auditor x 2
Kagiso Mmifsi,
Saleem Ballim

Financial Officer
J Matlakala

Legal Officer
A Sebapu

SCM Officer
K Letlape
Assistant Manager
R Jonas

Legal Admin Assistant
S Mokwena

Assistant Manager
Client Support
V Pithumbar
Manager Client
Support
N May

Monitoring &
Evaluation
Coordinator

Manager Operations
R Moloi

Filing and Document
Management Officer
N Kambula
Client Support Officers
x7
A Madmua,
K Mosenye,
B Mkhabela,
M Makofane

Assistant Manager
Classification
R Botes

Receptionist
B Godi

Manager:
Risk and Complance
Q Sitsila

Council Secretary
N Molewa

Client Support Officer –
Classification Admin
N Sefatsa
New Media Specialist
T Mogale

Assistant
Manager Inspection &
Consumer Education
S Seloane

Regional Coordinator
x3
R Vishnu,
C Borman,
C Vilakazi
Regional Admin Officer
x3
K Mogotshi,
P Lephol and
S Somzi

Online Monitor x 2
M Mrwata,
D Dimpane

Council Administrative
Office
R Makamo

CP Officer x 2
M Mundili,
M Poto

Compliance Monitors
x 10
Y Singh,
N Dladia,
T Zondi,
A Hugo,
M Nicholson,
N Mtshemla,
L Letsoalo,
M J Mathiba,
N Ralante

55

FILM AND PUBLICATION BOARD
ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

During the 2020/2021 reporting period, the
Organisational Redesign project which commenced
in 2019 was finalised and implementation has begun.
A placement committee was appointed by the Acting
CEO to assist with fast tracking and implementing
all approved Council recommendations. The
Implementation Framework was workshopped with all
staff and the final processes will include consultation
sessions with impacted or affected employees
compliant to relevant legislation. To support this
project, the FPB embarked on a Change Management
Programme to enhance the ability of FPB employees
to adapt to a fast-changing working environment,
4IR readiness as well as to position the organisation
for the impending merger of regulatory bodies within
the Department of Communications and Digital
Technologies.
The HC unit reviewed all its 35 policies and undertook
to group policies, reducing it to 21 ‘families’. A
remuneration strategy and policy was developed to
ensure the payment of fair and equitable remuneration
for employees. The intention was to retain skills
by paying market related salaries, however due to
severe budgetary constraints, Council opted to offer
all positions at the 25th percentile or entry level,
making it challenging to retain and attract best in class
employees.

address future talent acquisition. Additionally, Covid19
impacted the roll out of our WSP as the country was
on lockdown and many training offerings were placed
on hold, rendered impossible and/or went online.
The FPB implemented a Young Professional
Programme (YPP) or internship for 14 unemployed
youth under 35. They received a focused mentoring
programme over a 12-month period comprising onthe- job training as well as work readiness programme.
The YPP was extended through the revised policy
to a 24-month period and so the YPP terminated in
February 2021.
During the period under review the FPB experienced 33
new labour matters as cited below. Of the 37 matters
4 are historical and ongoing matters. These matters
were processed both internally and via the CCMA, as
well as labour court referrals.
The June 2019 multi-year agreement with NEHAWU for
salary negotiations could not be implemented due to
the ministerial moratorium on increments in the public
sector. This impacted negatively on staff morale both
emotionally and their financial well-being. This results
in a critical risk related to poor organisational culture
with low morale as a root cause.

FPB approved organisational structure
There were 94 approved positions of which 88 (93.7%)
posts were filled leaving a 6.3% vacancy rate or 6
positions unfilled. Notably, the CEO post has been
vacant for over 12 months and towards the end of
Q3, the Council was terminated – ending the year
with this Governance and leadership gap within the
organisation.
The FPB recruited a total of fifteen (15) new employees
during the reporting period. Nineteen (19) employees
resigned their services and 1 was terminated,
accounting for staff attrition of 20%. Seven of these
were contract term expiry, ten resignations, one
terminated due to a labour matter outcome and one
employee passed away.
A three-year Workplace Skills Plan (WSP) was
developed and approved for implementation. It
was aligned to the identified skills gap analysis to
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NUMBER
Historical matters still ongoing

4

Verbal Warning

9

Written Warning

8

Final Written Warning

3

Grievances

4

CCMA

4

Theft and Loss Committee

5

Total

37

FILM AND PUBLICATION BOARD
ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

Employee Wellness

The HR Report provides an overview of some of the
activities and trends that have occurred over the
12-month reporting period. These include statistical
data relating to staff movements, employment
equity and race / gender representation, staff related
expenditure patterns and labour relations.

Compulsory debriefings for Classifiers and Compliance
Monitors were held quarterly for any employees
exposed to disturbing materials or work activities
during the course of their duties that may be traumatic.
The FPB Wellness programme included the ongoing
call centre facility, monthly newsletters, an Employee
Wellness Day, Staff Wellness Awareness, and voluntary
testing interventions on the topics of HIV/AIDS,
Diabetes and COVID-19. Utilisation of the call centre
facility increased significantly over the reporting period,
both ‘self’ or ‘management referrals’, citing wellness
issues. A formal management intervention resulted
in an approved disability case, that is monitored and
managed through the FPB’s Group Life Assurance and
Disability processes.

Expenditure
The following tables summarise final audited
expenditure by programme and by salary bands.
In particular, it provides an indication of the amount
spent on personnel costs in terms of the programmes
or salary bands within the department

PERSONNEL
PROGRAMME

TOTAL

PERSONNEL

COSTS AS A

EXPENDITURE

EXPENDITURE

% OF TOTAL

(R’000)

(R’000)

EXPENDITURE

AVERAGE
PERSONNEL

NO OF
EMPLOYEES

(R’000)

COST PER
EMPLOYEE
(R’000)

Staff

53,832

52,035

97%

93

579

Classifiers

5,145

5,145

100%

40

129

Total

58,977

57,180

133

AVERAGE

PERSONNEL

% OF TOTAL

EXPENDITURE

PERSONNEL COST

(R’000)

(R’000)

Classifiers

52,035

50%

40

129

Support Staff

38,189

37%

80

477

Senior Management

8,241

8%

8

1,030

Executive

5,605

5%

5

1,121

Total

58,977

100%

133

782

SALARY BAND

NO OF

PERSONNEL COST

EMPLOYEES

PER EMPLOYEE
(R’000)
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3.

Performance Rewards

NUMBER OF BENEFICIARIES

COST

%OF REWARDS TO
EMPLOYEES

African
Male

20

950222,62

27%

Female

41

1822690,76

53%

Male

3

194077,84

6%

Female

1

22768,02

1%

Male

2

104045,58

3%

Female

1

126386,81

4%

Male

2

128382,78

4%

Female

2

115384,54

3%

TOTAL

72

3463958,95

100%

Employees with disability

2

Indian

Coloured

White

4.

Training Costs

TRAINING
PROGRAMME/
ACTIVITY/OBJECTIVE

PERSONNELL

TRAINING

EXPENDITURE

NO OF

AVERAGE

EXPENDITURE

EXPENDITURE

AS A % OF

EMPLOYEES

TRAINING COST

(R’000)

(R’000)

PERSONNEL

TRAINED

PER EMPLOYEE

COST

58

Remuneration and
Sfaety Webinar

1,581,178

0.00

0.00

3

0.00

Covid-19- Return to
work protocol

2,985,476

0.00

0.00

4

0.00

Cleansing protocol as
per COVID requirement

1,757,590

9,717,48

0.55

6

1,619.58

Basic part One – Sage
300 Payroll

3,053,962.90

39,261.00

1,29

4

9,815.25

An equal bite of the
apple - webinar

1,006,610.00

0.00

0.00

1

0.00
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TRAINING
PROGRAMME/
ACTIVITY/OBJECTIVE

PERSONNELL

TRAINING

EXPENDITURE

NO OF

AVERAGE

EXPENDITURE

EXPENDITURE

AS A % OF

EMPLOYEES

TRAINING COST

(R’000)

(R’000)

PERSONNEL

TRAINED

PER EMPLOYEE

COST
First Aid Training

16,514.00

0.00

1

16,514.00

367,614.50

16,000

4.35

1

16,000.00

Basic part one Sage 300
Payroll

1,008,639.70

13,087.00

1,29

2

6,543.50

Dr. Wotela’s Research
class

6,235,852.30

0.00

0.00

11

0.00

Ethics workshop

32,742,008.90

0.00

0.00

66

0.00

Reesearch training
– Research
Conceptualizaion,
Conceptualizaion,
Strategy, design,
descriptive statistics

32,032,312.60

0.00

0.00

53

0.00

POPI Act Master Class

498,200.00

1092.00

0.22

1

1,092.00

Aligning Risk Strategy
and Performance

15,855,598.20

0.00

0.00

15

0.00

Three lines of defense in
risk management

1,006,611.00

0.00

0.00

1

0.00

Data Security Trends

1,006,611.00

0.00

0.00

1

0.00

Working in the new
normal - webinar

641,025.20

0.00

0.00

1

0.00

Facilities Management
training

572,539.00

47,330.00

8.27

1

47,330.00

GRAP training

4,038,727.90

11,960.00

0.30

5

2,392.00

Training for Bid
Committees

1,685,410.90

85,538.00

5.08

18

4,752.11

Normal an HR
perspective

641,025.20

0.00

0.00

1

0.00

Career Development for
Young Professionals

468,000.00

112,400.00

24.02

6

18,733.30

109,184,955.60

352,899.48

0.32

201

352,899.48

Digital Marketing

Total
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5.

Employment and Vacancies

NUMBER OF
SALARY BAND

POSTS
31 MARCH
2020

NUMBER OF

NUMBER OF

NUMBER OF

FILLED POSTS

POSTS

POSTS FILLED

31 MARCH 2020

31 MARCH 2021

31 MARCH 2021

VACANCY
RATE %

Support Staff

78

67

78

73

5%

Senior Management

11

11

12

11

1%

Executive Management

5

3

5

3

2%

Programme Total

94

81

94

87

7.4%
a

6.

Employment Changes

NUMBER OF
EMPLOYEES PER
SALARY BANDS

LEVEL AS AT 01
APRIL 2020

APPOINTMENTS
AND TRANSFERS IN

TERMINATIONS
AND TRANSFERS
OUT

CHECK

60

EMPLOYMENT AT
END OF PERIOD
AT 31 MARCH
2021

Support Staff

78

12

16

74

Senior Management

8

3

1

10

Executive Management

3

2

2

3

Total

89

17

19

87
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7.

Reasons why staff are leaving the FPB

Table 21 below notes the reason related to employee’s departure. The Human Capital Unit keeps full records of Exit
Interviews, detailing the reasons for resignation, which is submitted to EXCO for strategic considerations.

TERMINATION TYPE

NUMBER

% OF TOTAL

Death

1

5%

Resignation

8

42%

Expiry of Contract

10

53%

Dismissal - organisational changes

0

0%

Dismissal – misconduct

0

0%

Dismissal – inefficiency

0

0%

Discharge due to ill-health

0

0%

Retirement

0

0%

Other

0

0%

Total

19

100%

Total number of employees who left as a % of the total
employment

21%
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8.

Misconduct and Disciplinary Action, 01 April 2020 to 31 March 2021

During the year under review the Film and Publication Board experienced an increase in misconduct and disciplinary
action as noted in the table 22. Actions taken include CCMA referrals and historic matters that are not yet resolved.

OUTCOMES OF DISCIPLINARY HEARINGS

NUMBER

% OF TOTAL

Correctional Counselling (included letters of caution in this)

0

0%

Verbal Warning

9

24%

Written Warning

8

21%

Final Written Warning

3

8%

Suspended without Pay

0

0%

Grievances

4

11%

CCMA

4

11%

Theft and Loss Committee

5

14%

Case withdrawn

0

0%

Other - Historical matters ongoing

4

11%

Total

37

100%

9.

Employment Equity

Total number of employees (including people with disabilities) in each of the following Occupational Categories as
at 31 March 2021.
The Film and Publication Board benchmark their employment equity plan on the published EAP figures as obtained
by Stats SA and attempt to align with the Economically Active Presentation in the demographics of South Africa.
The actual representation as at 31 March 2021 is demonstrated as per table 23 below.

MALE

OCCUPATIONAL
CATEGORIES

TOTAL
AFRICAN

COLOURED

INDIAN

WHITE

AFRICAN

COLOURED

INDIAN

WHITE

Support Staff

20

3

4

2

44

0

1

2

75

Senior
Management

2

0

0

1

5

1

0

0

9

Executive
Management

0

0

1

0

1

1

0

0

3

TOTAL

22

3

5

2

50

2

1

2

87

0

0

2

Persons with disabilities –
included in the above table

62

FEMALE

0

0

0

0

2

0
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10.

Skills Development for the period 01 April 2019 to 31 March 2021

The Film and Publication Board marks itself as a “learning organisation” and in support of the development
of employees have assisted 38 (43.68%) employees in the reporting period to develop their skills. This is
demonstrated in table 27 below.

MALE

FEMALE

% HC

OCCUPATIONAL
CATEGORIES

TOTAL
AFRICAN

COLOURED

INDIAN

WHITE

AFRICAN COLOURED

Support Staff

17

2

4

0

1

Senior
Management

2

0

1

1

Executive
Management

0

0

1

TOTAL

19

2

Persons with
disabilities

0

0

EMPLOYEES

INDIAN

WHITE

0

0

1

25

75%

4

1

0

0

9

100%

0

2

1

0

0

4

133%

6

1

7

2

0

1

38

43.68%

0

0

2

0

0

0

2

100%

TRAINED
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While the Film and Publication Board is not a
company by legislation, the members are guided
by the requirements of the Companies Act, 71 of
2008 to maintain adequate accounting records and
are responsible for the content and integrity of the
financial statements and related financial information
included in this report. It is the responsibility of the
members to ensure that the financial statements fairly
present the state of affairs of the entity as at the end
of the year and the results of its operations and cash
flows for the year then ended. The external auditors
are engaged to express an independent opinion on the
financial statements and given unrestricted access to
all financial records and related data for their audit.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Generally Recognised Accounting
Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board.
The financial statements are based upon appropriate
accounting policies consistently applied and supported
by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.
The members acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control
established by the entity and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment.
To enable the members to meet these responsibilities,
the accounting authority sets standards for internal
control aimed at reducing the risk of error or deficit
in a cost effective manner. The standards include the
proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly
defined framework, effective accounting procedures
and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored
throughout the entity and all employees are required to
maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the
entity’s business is conducted in a manner that, in all
reasonable circumstances, is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the entity is on identifying,
assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms
of risk across the entity. While operating risk cannot be

fully eliminated, the entity endeavors to minimise it by
ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behavior are applied and managed
within predetermined procedures and constraints.
The members are of the opinion, based on the
information and explanations given by management,
that the system of internal control provides reasonable
assurance that the financial records may be relied
on for the preparation of the financial statements.
However, any system of internal financial control can
provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or deficit.
The entity is dependent on the Department of
Communication and Digital Technologies for continued
funding of operations. The financial statements are
prepared on the basis that the entity is a going concern
and that the Department of Communication and Digital
Technologies has neither the intention nor the need to
liquidate or curtail materially the scale of the entity
The accounting authority are primarily responsible for
the financial affairs of the entity and these are audited
by the entity’s external auditors.
The financial statements set out on pages 74 to 115,
which have been prepared on the going concern basis,
were approved by the accounting authority on 28 May
2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

Ms. Abongile Mashele
Acting Chief Executive Ofﬁcer

Ms. Zamatungwa Mkosi
Council Chairperson
The members submit their report for the year ended
31 March 2021.
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1.

Legal Form and Nature of
Business

The Film and Publication Board is a public entity which
was established in terms of the Film and Publications
Act and commenced business in March 1998. It is
listed as a schedule 3A in terms of the Public Finance
Management Act of 1999. The Executive Authority
is the Department of Communications and Digital
Technologies.

2.

Review of activities

Main business and operations
The Film and Publication Board regulates, by means of
classification, age restrictions and consumer advice,
the creation, production, possession and distribution
of films, games and certain publications to:
•

•

•

3.

Enable adults to make informed viewing, reading,
and gaming choices, both for themselves and for
the children in their care, and
Protect children from exposure to disturbing and
harmful materials and from premature exposure to
adult experiences, and
Contribute to the protection of children from sexual
abuse and exploitation in pornographic films,
computer games, publications and on the Internet.

Results for the year

The financial operating results for the period were
satisfactory. The Film and Publication Board recorded
a net surplus of R 6 144 320 (2020: surplus R 4 318
578)

Since March 2020 the country has been experiencing
a COVID 19 pandemic and the measures that has
been taken to combat the virus has impacted the way
in which Film and Publication Board (FPB) conducts
its business. The employees are working from home
with a limited number of staff in the office from 1June
2020. Some places of exhibition are operating at 50%
capacity under current lockdown regulations which
may result in these events:
•

Possible reduction in classification fees with
Cinema capacity reduced to 50%

•

On going expense
equipments (PPE)

•

Increase on data and other covid related expenses

5.

on

personal

protective

Funding

The Film and Publication Board received a Government
Grant of R 100 596 000 for the period ended 31 March
2021 and R 99 373 000 for the year ended 31 March
2020.

6.

Subsequent events

The cabinet announced the following members to the
Council of the Film and Publication Board with effect
from 22 April 2021:
i

Ms Zamantungwa Mkosi (Chairperson);

ii

Dr Siyasanga Mhlangabezi Tyali; (Deputy Chairperson)

We draw attention to the fact that at 31 March 2021,
the entity had an accumulated surplus of R 39 945 008
(R33 800 689 - 31 March 2020) and that the entity’s
total assets exceed its liabilities by R 39 945 008 (R33
800 689 - 31 March 2020).

iii

Ms Lungelo Pearljean Nxele;

iv

Ms Magalutchmi Pillay;

v

Mr Phosa Jan Mashangoane;

The financial statements have been prepared on the

vi

Ms Glory Zanele Nkosi, (CA) SA ;

4.
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basis of accounting policies applicable to a going
concern. This basis presumes that funds will be
available to finance future operations and that the
realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities,
contingent obligations and commitments will occur in
the ordinary course of business. There is no indication
from the Department that we will not continue to
receive funding going forward.

Going concern
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vii Ms Mpho Sedibe, (CA) SA;
viii Dr Andile Nontso; and
ix

7.

Adv Lufuno Tokyo Nevondwe

Accounting policies

The financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the Standards of Generally
Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP),including
any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued
by the Accounting Standards Board.
The financial statements set out on pages 74 to 115,
which have been prepared on the going concern basis,
were approved by the accounting authority on 28 May
2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

Ms. Abongile Mashele
Acting Chief Executive Ofﬁcer

Ms. Zamatungwa Mkosi
Council Chairperson
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Report on the audit of the ﬁnancial
statements

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
my opinion.

Opinion
1. I have audited the financial statements of the Film
and Publication Board, set out on pages 74 to 115,
which comprise the statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2021, the statement of financial
performance, statement of changes in net assets,
cash flow statement and statement of comparison
of budget information with actual information
for the year then ended, as well as notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.
2. In my opinion, the financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Film and Publication Board as at
31 March 2021, and its financial performance and
cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance
with the Standards of Generally Recognised
Accounting Practice (GRAP) and the requirements
of the Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999
(PFMA).

Responsibilities of the accounting
authority for the ﬁnancial statements
6. The accounting authority is responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with the Standards of
GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA, and for
such internal control as the accounting authority
determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
7. In preparing the financial statements, the
accounting authority is responsible for assessing
the public entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating
to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the appropriate
governance structure either intends to liquidate
the public entity or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Basis for opinion
3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My
responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements section of
my report.
4. I am independent of the public entity in accordance
with the International Ethics Standards Board
for Accountants’ International code of ethics for
professional accountants (including International
Independence Standards) (IESBA code) as well
as other ethical requirements that are relevant to
my audit in South Africa. I have fulfilled my other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the IESBA code.
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Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the
audit of the ﬁnancial statements
8. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with the
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually
or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.
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9. A further description of my responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements is included in the
annexure to this auditor’s report.

Report on the audit of the annual
performance report
Introduction and scope
10. In accordance with the Public Audit Act 25 of
2004 (PAA) and the general notice issued in
terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report
on the usefulness and reliability of the reported
performance information against predetermined
objectives for selected strategic goals presented
in the annual performance report. I performed
procedures to identify material findings but not to
gather evidence to express assurance.
11. My procedures address the usefulness and
reliability of the reported performance information,
which must be based on the public entity’s approved
performance planning documents. I have not
evaluated the completeness and appropriateness
of the performance indicators included in the
planning documents. My procedures do not
examine whether the actions taken by the public
entity enabled service delivery. My procedures do
not extend to any disclosures or assertions relating
to the extent of achievements in the current year or
planned performance strategies and information
in respect of future periods that may be included
as part of the reported performance information.
Accordingly, my findings do not extend to these
matters.
12. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the
reported performance information in accordance
with the criteria developed from the performance
management and reporting framework, as defined
in the general notice, for the following selected
strategic goals presented in the public entity’s
annual performance report for the year ended
31 March 2021:
Strategic goals
Strategic goal 1 – effective
content regulation aligned
to the Constitution

Pages in the annual
performance report

117 – 118

13. I performed procedures to determine whether
the reported performance information was
properly presented and whether performance
was consistent with the approved performance
planning documents. I performed further
procedures to determine whether the indicators
and related targets were measurable and relevant,
and assessed the reliability of the reported
performance information to determine whether it
was valid, accurate and complete.
14. I did not identify any material findings on
the usefulness and reliability of the reported
performance information for this strategic goal:
•

Strategic goal 1 – effective content regulation
aligned to the Constitution.

Other matters
15. I draw attention to the matters below.

Achievement of planned targets
16. Refer to the annual performance report on page(s)
117 to 124 for information on the achievement of
planned targets for the year and management’s
explanations provided for the under-/overachievement of targets.

Adjustment of material misstatements
17. I identified material misstatements in the annual
performance report submitted for auditing.
These material misstatements were on the
reported performance information of strategic
goal 1 – effective content regulation aligned to
the Constitution. As management subsequently
corrected the misstatements, I did not raise any
material findings on the usefulness and reliability
of the reported performance information.

Report on the audit of compliance with
legislation
Introduction and scope
18. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice
issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility
to report material findings on the public entity’s
compliance with specific matters in key legislation.
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I performed procedures to identify findings but not
to gather evidence to express assurance.
19. The material findings on compliance with specific
matters in key legislation are as follows:

Expenditure management
20. Effective and appropriate steps were not taken
to prevent irregular expenditure amounting to
R116 317, as disclosed in note 26 to the annual
financial statements, as required by section 51(1)
(b)(ii) of the PFMA. The irregular expenditure was
caused by non-compliance with supply chain
legislation.

Annual ﬁnancial statements, performance
and annual report
21. The financial statements submitted for auditing
were not prepared in accordance with the
prescribed financial reporting framework, as
required by section 55(1)(b) of the PFMA. A
material misstatement identified by the auditors in
commitments disclosed was corrected, resulting
in an unqualified audit opinion on the financial
statements.

Other information
22. The accounting authority is responsible for
the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual
report. The other information does not include the
financial statements, the auditor’s report and those
selected strategic goals presented in the annual
performance report that have been specifically
reported in this auditor’s report.
23. My opinion on the financial statements and
findings on the reported performance information
and compliance with legislation do not cover the
other information and I do not express an audit
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion on it.

24. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements and the
selected strategic goals presented in the annual
performance report, or my knowledge obtained
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.
25. If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude
that there is a material misstatement in this other
information, I am required to report that fact. I have
nothing to report in this regard.

Internal control deﬁciencies
26. I considered internal control relevant to my audit
of the financial statements, reported performance
information and compliance with applicable
legislation; however, my objective was not to
express any form of assurance on it. The matters
reported below are limited to the significant internal
control deficiencies that resulted in the findings on
the compliance with legislation included in this
report.
27. Although internal controls have been properly
designed, the implementation of these controls
must be improved across the entity to ensure
financial statements are prepared in accordance
with the financial reporting framework and in
compliance with legislation. The annual financial
statements contained misstatements that were
corrected. These misstatements were mainly
due to inadequate reviews of the annual financial
statements.
28. Non-compliance with legislation could have been
prevented had compliance been properly reviewed
and monitored.

Pretoria.
13 August 2021
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1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs,
I exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout my audit
of the financial statements and the procedures
performed on reported performance information
for selected strategic goals and on the public
entity’s compliance with respect to the selected
subject matters.

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the ability of the Film and Publication
Board to continue as a going concern. If I
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I
am required to draw attention in my auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements about the material uncertainty or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
my opinion on the financial statements. My
conclusions are based on the information
available to me at the date of this auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions
may cause a public entity to cease operating
as a going concern

Financial statements
2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the
financial statements as described in this auditor’s
report, I also:
•

•

identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error; design and
perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks; and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override
of internal control
obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the public entity’s internal control

•

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the accounting authority

•

conclude on the appropriateness of the
accounting authority’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting in the preparation
of the financial statements. I also conclude,

•

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and determine whether the
financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Communication with those charged
with governance
3. I communicate with the accounting authority
regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that I identify during my audit.
4. I also provide the accounting authority with a
statement that I have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
my independence and, where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS
S AT 31 MARCH 202
21

FIGURES IN RAND

NOTE(S)

2020

2021

Assets
Current Assets
Receivables from exchange transactions

3

2 711 515

3 174 197

Statutory receivables

4

1 407 013

2 399 534

Cash and cash equivalents

2

31 926 575

23 564 700

36 045 103

29 138 431

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment

5

10 333 475

8 793 467

Intangible assets

6

10 344 638

10 516 562

20 678 113

19 310 029

56 723 216

48 448 460

Total Assets

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Finance lease obligation

7

298 564

280 521

Payables from exchange transactions

8

10 340 264

8 328 655

Provisions

9

5 848 855

5 449 507

16 487 683

14 058 683

290 525

589 089

Total Liabilities

16 778 208

14 647 772

Net Assets

39 945 008

33 800 688

Accumulated surplus

39 945 008

33 800 688

Non-Current Liabilities
Finance lease obligation
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
F R THE
FO
E YEAR EN
NDED
D 31 MARCH 2021

FIGURES IN RAND

NOTE(S)

2020

2021

Revenue
Revenue from exchange transactions
Regulation Fees

10

5 626 458

6 389 904

Other income

11

265 180

33 588

Interest received - investment

13

840 109

1 157 666

6 731 747

7 581 158

Total revenue from exchange transactions

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Transfer revenue
Government grants & subsidies

12

100 596 000

99 373 000

Total revenue

10

107 327 747

106 954 158

14

(57 176 141)

(59 686 063)

5&6

(1 914 652)

(1 452 795)

Expenditure
Employee related costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Finance costs

16

(46 409)

(4 647)

Lease rentals on operating lease

20

(7 741 299)

(6 943 714)

General expenses

15

(34 304 926)

(34 548 362)

(101 183 427)

(102 635 581)

6 144 320

4 318 577

Total expenditure
Surplus for the period
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
F R THE
FO
E YEAR EN
NDED
D 31 MARCH 2021

FIGURES IN RAND

ACCUMULATED

TOTAL NET ASSETS

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)
Balance at 31 March 2019

29 482 111

29 482 111

Surplus for the period

4 318 577

4 318 577

Total changes

4 318 577

4 318 577

33 800 688

33 800 688

Surplus for the period

6 144 320

6 140 594

Total changes

6 144 320

6 140 594

39 945 008

39 941 282

Balance at 31 March 2020

Balance at 31 March 2021
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
F R THE
FO
E YEAR EN
NDED
D 31 MARCH 2021

FIGURES IN RAND

NOTE(S)

2020

2021

Cash ﬂows from operating activities
Receipts
Grants

100 596 000

99 373 000

Interest received

840 109

1 157 666

Other receipts

265 180

33 588

7 081 661

5 364 567

108 782 950

105 928 821

Employee costs

(56 993 720)

(60 191 849)

Suppliers

(39 814 124)

(41 690 247)

(96 807 844)

(101 882 096)

18

11 975 106

4 046 725

Purchase of infrastructure, plant and equipment

5

(3 286 345)

(1 610 985)

Purchase of intangible assets

6

-

(226 886)

(3 286 345)

(1 837 871)

(280 479)

(22 595)

(46 409)

(4 647)

Net cash ﬂows from ﬁnancing activities

(326 888)

(27 242)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

8 361 873

2 181 612

23 564 700

21 383 093

31 926 573

23 564 705

Regulation Fees

Payments

Net cash ﬂows from operating activities

Cash ﬂows from investing activities

Net cash ﬂows from investing activities

Cash ﬂows from ﬁnancing activities
Finance lease payments
Finance cost

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

2
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL
AMOUNTS
F R THE
FO
E YEAR EN
NDED
D 31 MARCH 2021

BUDGET ON ACCRUAL BASIS

FIGURES IN RAND

APPROVED
BUDGET

ADJUSTMENTS

FINAL
BUDGET

ACTUAL

DIFFERENCE

AMOUNTS

BETWEEN

ON

FINAL

REFERENCE

COMPARABLE

BUDGET

BASIS

AND ACTUAL

Statement of Financial Performance
Revenue
Revenue from
exchange
transactions
Regulation fees
Other income
Interest received investment

12 146 110

(1 005 000)

11 141 110

5 626 458

(5 514 652)

(a)

-

-

-

265 180

265 180

(b)

1 029 890

-

1 029 890

840 109

(189 781)

(c)

13 176 000

(1 005 000)

12 171 000

6 731 747

(5 439 253)

Total revenue
from exchange
transactions

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Transfer revenue
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Government grants &
subsidies

103 978 000

(3 382 000)

100 596 000

100 596 000

-

Total revenue

117 154 000

(4 387 000)

112 767 000

107 327 747

(5 439 253)

(d)
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL
AMOUNTS
F R THE
FO
E YEAR EN
NDED
D 31 MARCH 2021

BUDGET ON ACCRUAL BASIS

FIGURES IN RAND

APPROVED

ADJUSTMENTS

BUDGET

FINAL
BUDGET

ACTUAL

DIFFERENCE

AMOUNTS

BETWEEN

ON

FINAL

COMPARABLE

BUDGET

BASIS

AND ACTUAL

REFERENCE

Expenditure
Personnel

(67 011 745)

9 813 896

(57 197 849)

(57 176 141)

21 708

Depreciation and
amortisation expenses

-

-

-

(1 914 652)

(1 914 652)

Finance costs

-

-

-

(46 409)

(46 409)

(f)

(7 893 560)

(2 778 612)

(10 672 172)

(7 741 299)

2 930 873

(g)

(42 248 695)

(2 648 284)

(44 896 979)

(34 304 926)

10 592 053

(g)

(117 154 000)

4 387 000

(112 767 000)

(101 183 427)

11 583 573

-

-

-

6 144 320

6 144 320

-

-

6 144 320

6 144 320

-

-

6 144 320

6 144 320

Lease rentals on
operating lease
Administrative
Total
expenditure
Surplus before
taxation
Surplus for the year
from continuing
operations
Actual Amount on
Comparable

-

(e)

Basis as Presented in the Budget and Actual Comparative Statement
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL
AMOUNTS
FOR THE YE
EAR EN
NDED
D 31 MA
ARCH 2021

BUDGET ON ACCRUAL BASIS
ACTUAL
FIGURES IN RAND

APPROVED
BUDGET

ADJUSTMENTS

FINAL
BUDGET

AMOUNTS
ON
COMPARABLE
BASIS

DIFFERENCE
BETWEEN

REFERENCE

FINAL BUDGET
AND ACTUAL

The budget for 2020/2021 financial year was approved and prepared on the accrual basis (except for depreciation
and amortisation) and all transactions were accounted for on accrual basis. Transfers received during the current
financial year were from the Department of Communications and Digital Technologies and entities included in the
budget were disclosed in Note 21.The changes between original budget and the adjustment budget is mainly due
to a consequence of reallocation within the budget.
a)

Mid term revenue projections indicated a decrease in regulation fees to be collected for the remainder of the year,
budget was therefore adjusted downwards however there were some distributors that delayed in concluding the
agreement which resulted in the variance.

b) Other revenue is not budgeted for as it is not material and it is ad hoc in nature.
c)

interest revenue generated was under budget as a result of delay in receipt of grant and the change in the
interest rate

d) Government grants and subsidies was reduced during the financial year by National Treasury.
e)

Personnel budget was adjusted downwards because of vacancies and reduction in the grants from National
Treasury for personnel.

f)

The depreciation and amortisation is not budgeted for as it is non-cash item.

g) Underspending in admin costs is due to the fact that management implemented cost containment measures on
line items like travel, workshops etc
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Accounting Policies
1.

Presentation of Financial
Statements

The financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the Standards of Generally
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any
interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the
Accounting Standards Board.
These financial statements have been prepared on an
accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with
historical cost convention unless specified otherwise.
They are presented in South African Rand value. The
AFS is rounded to the nearest Rand.
A summary of the significant accounting policies,
which have been consistently applied are disclosed
below.

1.1 Signiﬁcant judgements and
sources of estimation uncertainty
In preparing the financial statements, management
is required to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts represented in the financial
statements and related disclosures. Use of available
information and the application of judgement is
inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results
in the future could differ from these estimates which
may be material to the financial statements. Significant
judgements made relates to: the useful lives of, or
expected pattern of consumption of economic benefits
or service potential embodied in, depreciable assets,
provisions, contingent liabilities, tax revenue due to
government, bad debts arising from uncollected taxes,
the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
and warranty obligations.

Trade and other receivables
The entity assesses its trade and other receivables
for impairment at the end of each reporting period.
In determining whether an impairment loss should
be recorded in surplus or deficit, The impaiment is
established when there is objective evidence that

the FPB will not be able to collect all amounts due
according to the original terms of receivables.

Impairment testing
Property, plant and equipment and Intangible assets
are considered for impairment if there is a reason to
believe that an impairment may be necessary.
The future cash flows expected to be generated by
the assets are projected taking into account market
conditions and the expected useful lives of the assets.
The present value of these cash flows, determined
using an appropriate discount rate, is compared to
the current carrying value and, if lower, the assets are
impaired to the present value.

Provisions
Provisions were raised and management determined
an estimate based on the information available.
Additional disclosure of these estimates of provisions
are included in note 9 - Provisions.
The leave pay provision is based on actual days
leave due to employees at their rate of remuneration.
Remuneration increases take effect annually at the
beginning of the financial year. In determining the
provision, itis assumed that no leave will be forfeited.
The assumption is based on past history.
The entity is required to recognise provisions for
claims arising from litigation when the occurrence
of the claim is probable and the amount of the loss
can be reasonably estimated. Liabilities provided for
legal matters require judgments regarding projected
outcomes and ranges of losses based on historical
experience and recommendations of legal unit.
Litigation is however unpredictable and actual costs
incurred could differ materially from those estimated
at the reporting date

Going Concern Assumption
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis.
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Offsetting
Assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses have not
been offset except when offsetting is required or
permitted by a Standard of GRAP.

1.2

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible noncurrent assets that are held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, rental to others, or for
administrative purposes, and are expected to be used
during more than one period.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is
recognised as an asset when:
•

it is probable that future economic benefits or
service potential associated with the item will flow
to the entity; and

•

the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or
construct an item of property, plant and equipment
and costs incurred subsequently to add to, replace
part of, or service it.
Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at
cost.
ITEM
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange
transaction, its cost is its fair value as at date of
acquisition.
When significant components of an item of property,
plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items (major components)
of property, plant and equipment.
Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item
of property, plant and equipment ceases when the
item is in the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management.
Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the
straight line basis over their expected useful lives to
their estimated residual value.

AVERAGE USEFUL LIFE
12-20 years
5 years

Office equipment

4-15 years

Computer equipment

4-8 years

Leasehold improvements

2-10 years

Leased – Motor vehicles

3-5 years

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether
there is any indication that the entity expectations
about the useful life of an asset have changed since
the preceding reporting date. If any such indication
exists, the entity revises the expected useful life and/or
residual value accordingly. The change is accounted
for as a change in an accounting estimate.
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The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
is the purchase price and other costs attributable to
bring the asset to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management. Trade discounts and rebates are
deducted in arriving at the cost.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised
in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying
amount of another asset.
Items of property, plant and equipment are
derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when
there are no further economic benefits or service
potential expected from the use of the asset.
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The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an
item of property, plant and equipment is included in
surplus or deficit when the item is derecognised. The
gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any,
and the carrying amount of the item.

1.3

An asset is identifiable if it either:

•

•

An intangible asset is recognised when:
•

it is probable that the expected future economic
benefits or service potential that are attributable to
the asset will flow to the entity; and

•

the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured
reliably.

Intangible assets

An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary
asset without physical substance.

•

After initial recognition, an intangible asset shall be
carried at its cost less any accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses.

is separable, i.e. is capable of being separated
or divided from an entity and sold, transferred,
licensed, rented or
exchanged, either individually or together with a
related contract, identifiable assets or liability,
regardless of whether the entity intends to do so;
or
arises from binding arrangements (including rights
from contracts), regardless of whether those rights
are transferable or separable from the entity or
from other rights and obligations.
ITEM

Computer software

The entity will test an intangible asset with an indefinite
useful life or an intangible asset not yet available for use
for impairment by comparing its recoverable amount
and recoverable service amount, as appropriate, with
its carrying amount:
(a) annually; and
(b) whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method
for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting
date.
Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible
assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values
as follows:

AVERAGE USEFUL LIFE

DEPRECIATION METHOD
Straight line

3 - 12 Years

Intangible assets are derecognised:

Classiﬁcation

on disposal; or

The entity has the following types of financial assets
as reflected on the face of the Statement of Financial
Position or in the notes thereto:

when no future economic benefits or service potential
are expected from its use or disposal.

1.4

Financial instruments
FINANCIAL ASSETS CLASS

Receivables from exchange transaction

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES CLASS
Payables from exchange transaction

The classification depends on whether or not the
financial instrument meets the criteria of a specific
financial instrument category.
CATEGORY
Financial asset measured at amortised cost Cash and Cash equivalents

CATEGORY
Financial liability measured at amortised cost
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Initial recognition and measurement
The enity recognise a financial asset or a financial
liability in its statement of financial position when,
and only when, the entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument
The entity classifies shall classify the instrument,
or its component parts, on initial recognition as a
financial liability, a financial asset or residual interest
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangement and the definitions of a financial liability,
a financial asset and a residual interest.
The entity measures all financial assets and financial
liabilities at its fair value plus transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the
financial asset or financial liability.
For financial instruments which are not at fair value
through surplus or deficit, transaction costs are
included in the initial measurement of the instrument.

Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable
amounts are recognised in surplus or deficit when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired.
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor,
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or
financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in
payments (more than 180 days overdue) are considered
indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The
allowance recognised is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account, and the amount of
the deficit is recognised in surplus or deficit within
operating expenses. When a trade receivable is
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited against
operating expenses in surplus or deficit.

Subsequent measurement
The entity measures all financial assets and financial
liabilities after initial recognition using the following
categories:

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method.

•

Financial instruments at fair value.

•

Financial instruments at amortised cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

•

Financial instruments at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and other short-term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to
a known amount of cash and are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. These are initially
and subsequently recorded at amortised cost.

Reclassiﬁcation
The entity does not reclassify a financial instrument
while it is issued or held unless it is:
•

combined instrument that is required to be
measured at fair value; or

1.5

•

an investment in a residual interest that meets the
requirements for reclassification.

Identiﬁcation

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition
at fair value, and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

84

Payables from exchange transactions

Statutory receivables

Statutory receivables are receivables that arise
from the Films and Publications Act 65 of 1996, as
amended, and require settlement by another entity in
cash or another financial asset.
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Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is
recognised in the statement of financial position.
The cost method is the method used to account for
statutory receivables that requires such receivables
to be measured at their transaction amount, plus any
accrued interest or other charges (where applicable)
and, less any accumulated impairment losses and any
amounts derecognised.

Recognition
The entity recognises statutory receivables as follows:
if the transaction is an exchange transaction, using the
policy on Revenue from exchange transactions;
if the transaction is a non-exchange transaction, using
the policy on Revenue from non-exchange transactions
(Taxes and transfers); or
if the transaction is not within the scope of the policies
listed in the above or another Standard of GRAP, the
receivable is recognised when the definition of an
asset is met and, when it is probable that the future
economic benefits or service potential associated with
the asset will flow to the entity and the transaction
amount can be measured reliably.

Impairment losses
The entity assesses at each reporting date whether
there is any indication that a statutory receivable, or a
group of statutory receivables, may be impaired.
In assessing whether statutory receivables are
impaired, an entity assesses whether there are any
indications that:
(c) individually significant receivables are impaired;
and/or
(d) groups of similar, individually
receivables are impaired.

insignificant,

If there is no indication that an individually significant
statutory receivable is impaired it is included in a group
of similar receivables and collectively assessed for
impairment. Statutory receivables shall be grouped
together and assessed collectively for impairement
when they exhibit similar characteristics which provide
information about the possible collactability of the
amounts owing to the entity. If an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised for an individually
•

significant receivable, then those receivables are
not included in a collective assessment.

•

In assessing whether there is any indication
that a statutory receivable, or group of statutory
receivables, may be impaired, the entity considers,
as a minimum, the following indicators:

Accrued interest

•

Where the entity levies interest on the outstanding
balance of statutory receivables, it adjusts the
transaction amount after initial recognition to reflect
any accrued interest. Accrued interest is calculated
using the nominal interest rate.

Significant financial difficulty of the debtor, which
may be evidenced by an application for debt
counselling, business rescue or an equivalent.

•

It is probable that the debtor will enter sequestration,
liquidation or other financial re-organisation.

•

A breach of the terms of the transaction, such
as default or delinquency in principal or interest
payments (where levied).

•

Adverse changes in international, national or local
economic conditions, such as a decline in growth,
an increase in debt levels and unemployment, or
changes in migration rates and patterns.

Subsequent measurement

Interest on statutory receivables is recognised as
revenue in accordance with the policy on Revenue
from exchange transactions or the policy on Revenue
from non-exchange transactions (Taxes and transfers),
whichever is applicable.
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If there is an indication that a statutory receivable, or
a group of statutory receivables, may be impaired,
the entity measures the impairment loss as the
difference between the estimated future cash flows
and the carrying amount. Where the carrying amount
is higher than the estimated future cash flows, the
carrying amount of the statutory receivable, or group
of statutory receivables, is reduced, either directly or
through the use of an allowance account. The amount
of the losses are recognised in surplus or deficit.
In estimating the future cash flows, an entity considers
both the amount and timing of the cash flows that it
will receive in future. Consequently, where the effect
of the time value of money is material, the entity
discounts the estimated future cash flows using a rate
that reflects the current risk free rate and, if applicable,
any risks specific to the statutory receivable, or group
of statutory receivables, for which the future cash flow
estimates have not been adjusted.
An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a
statutory receivable is revised if there has been a change
in the estimates used since the last impairment loss
was recognised, or to reflect the effect of discounting
the estimated cash flows.
Any previously recognised impairment loss is adjusted
either directly or by adjusting the allowance account.
The adjustment does not result in the carrying amount
of the statutory receivable or group of statutory
receivables exceeding what the carrying amount of
the receivable(s) would have been had the impairment
loss not been recognised at the date the impairment is
revised. The amount of any adjustment is recognised
in surplus or deficit.

Derecognition
The entity derecognises a statutory receivable, or a
part thereof, when:
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•

the rights to the cash flows from the receivable are
settled, expire or are waived;

•

the entity transfers to another party substantially
all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the
receivable; or

•

the entity, despite having retained some significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the receivable,
has transferred control of the receivable to
another party and the other party has the practical
ability to sell the receivable in its entirety to an
unrelated third party, and is able to exercise that
ability unilaterally and without needing to impose
additional restrictions on the transfer. In this case,
the entity:
-

derecognise the receivable; and

-

recognise separately any rights and obligations
created or retained in the transfer.

The carrying amounts of any statutory receivables
transferred are allocated between the rights or
obligations retained and those transferred on the
basis of their relative fair values at the transfer date.
The entity considers whether any newly created rights
and obligations are within the scope of the Standard
of GRAP on Financial Instruments or another Standard
of GRAP. Any difference between the consideration
received and the amounts derecognised and, those
amounts recognised, are recognised in surplus or
deficit in the period of the transfer.

1.6

Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease
if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership.

Finance leases - lessee
At the commencement of the lease term, lessees
shall recognise assets acquired under finance leases
as assets and the associated lease obligations as
liabilities in their statement of financial position. The
assets and liabilities shall be recognised at amounts
equal to the fair value of the leased property or if lower,
the present value of the minimum lease payments, each
determined at the inception of the lease. The discount
rate to be used in calculating the present value of the
minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit
in the lease, if this is practicable to determine; if not,
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the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate shall be used.
Any initial direct costs of the lessee are added to the
amount recognised as an asset.
Minimum lease payments shall be apportioned
between the finance charge and the reduction of the
outstanding liability.
The finance charge shall be allocated to each period
during the lease term so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Contingent rents shall be charged as expenses
in the periods in which they are incurred.
A finance lease gives rise to a depreciation expense
for depreciable assets as well as finance expense
for each accounting period. The depreciation policy
for depreciable leased assets shall be consistent
with that for depreciable assets that are owned, and
the depreciation recognised shall be calculated in
accordance with the Standards of GRAP on Property,
Plant and Equipment (GRAP 17) and Intangible Assets
(GRAP 31). If there is no reasonable certainty that the
lessee will obtain ownership by the end of the lease
term, the asset shall be fully depreciated over the
shorter of the lease term and its useful life

Operating leases - lessee
Lease payments under an operating lease shall be
recognised as an expense in the statement of financial
performance on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
To the extent that the straight-lined lease payments
differ from the actual lease payments the difference
is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position
as either lease payments in advance (operating lease
asset) or lease payments payable (operating lease
liability) as the case may be. This resulting asset and /
or liability is measured at the undiscounted difference
between the straight-line lease payments and the
contractual lease payments.

1.7

Impairment of cash-generating
assets

Criteria developed by entity to distinguish cashgenerating assets from non-cash-generating assets,
are as follows:

Designation
At initial recognition, the entity designates an asset as
non-cash-generating, or an asset or cash-generating
unit as cash- generating. The designation is made on
the basis of an entity’s objective of using the asset.
When it is not clear whether the objective is to use
the asset to generate a commercial return, the entity
designates the asset as a non-cash-generating asset.

Identiﬁcation
When the carrying amount of a cash-generating asset
exceeds its recoverable amount, it is impaired.
The entity assesses at each reporting date whether
there is any indication that a cash-generating asset
may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the
entity estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

Value in use
Value in use of non-cash-generating assets is the
present value of the non-cash-generating assets’
remaining service potential. The present value of the
remaining service potential of a non-cashgenerating
asset is determined by using the following approach:

Depreciated replacement cost approach
The present value of the remaining service potential
of a non-cash- generating asset is determined as
the depreciated replacement cost of the asset. The
replacement cost of an asset is the cost to replace the
asset’s gross service potential. This cost is depreciated
to reflect the asset in its used condition. An asset may
be replaced either through reproduction (replication) of
the existing asset or through replacement of its gross
service potential. The depreciated replacement cost is
measured as the current reproduction or replacement
cost of the asset, whichever is lower,less accumulated
depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost,to
reflect the already consumed or expired service
potential of the asset.
The replacement cost and reproduction cost of an asset
is determined on an “optimised” basis. The rationale
is that the entity would not replace or reproduce the
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asset with a like asset if the asset to be replaced
or reproduced is an overdesigned or overcapacity
asset. Overdesigned assets contain features which
are unnecessary for the goods or services the asset
provides. Overcapacity assets are assets that have
a greater capacity than is necessary to meet the
demand for goods or services the asset provides. The
determination of the replacement cost or reproduction
cost of an asset on an optimised basis thus reflects the
service potential required of the asset.

attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior periods.

Recognition and measurement (individual
asset)

After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised,
the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the noncash -generating asset is adjusted in future periods
to allocate the non-cashgenerating asset’s revised
carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), on a
systematic basis over its remaining useful life Noncash-generating assets are assets other than cashgenerating assets.

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
surplus or deficit.
When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is
greater than the carrying amount of the cash-generating
asset to which it relates, the entity recognises a liability
only to the extent that is a requirement in the Standard
of GRAP.
After the recognition of an impairment loss, the
depreciation (amortisation) charge for the cashgenerating asset is adjusted in future periods to
allocate the cash-generating asset’s revised carrying
amount, less its residual value (if any), on a systematic
basis over its remaining useful life.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a non-cashgenerating asset is recognised immediately in surplus
or deficit. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a
revalued non-cashgenerating asset is treated as a
revaluation increase.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits
or service potential of an asset, over and above the
systematic recognition of the loss of the asset’s
future economic benefits or service potential through
depreciation (amortisation).
Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset
is recognised in the statement of financial position
after deducting any accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses thereon.

Reversal of impairment loss
The entity assesses at each reporting date whether
there is any indication that an impairment loss
recognised in prior periods for a non-cash-generating
asset may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
any such indication exists, the entity estimates the
recoverable service amount of that asset.
An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for
a non-cash generating asset is reversed if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable service amount since the last
impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount
of the asset is increased to its recoverable service
amount. The increase is a reversal of an impairment
loss. The increased carrying amount of an asset

88

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group
of assets managed with the objective of generating a
commercial return that generates cash inflows from
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets.
Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly
attributable to the disposal of an asset, excluding
finance costs and income tax expense.
Depreciation (Amortisation) is the systematic allocation
of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful
life.
Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable
from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction
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between knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs
of disposal.

Short-term employee beneﬁts

Recoverable service amount is the higher of a noncash-generating asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and its value in use. Useful life is either:

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits
(other than termination benefits) that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the end of the period
in which the employees render the related service.

•

the period of time over which an asset is expected
to be used by the entity; or

Short-term employee benefits include items such as:

•

the number of production or similar units expected
to be obtained from the asset by the entity.

1.8

•

wages, salaries,
contributions;

•

short-term compensated absences (such as
paid annual leave and paid sick leave) where the
compensation for the absences is due to be settled
within twelve months after the end of the reporting
period in which the employees render the related
employee service;

•

bonus, incentive and performance related
payments payable within twelve months after the
end of the reporting period in which the employees
render the related service; and

•

non-monetary benefits (for example, medical
care, and free or subsidised goods or services
such as housing, cars and cellphones) for current
employees.

Employee beneﬁts

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration
given by an entity in exchange for service rendered
by employees. A qualifying insurance policy is an
insurance policy issued by an insurer that is not a
related party (as defined in the
Standard of GRAP on Related Party Disclosures) of
the reporting entity, if the proceeds of the policy can
be used only to pay or fund employee benefits under
a defined benefit plan and are not available to the
reporting entity’s own creditors (even in liquidation) and
cannot be paid to the reporting entity, unless either:
•

the proceeds represent surplus assets that are
not needed for the policy to meet all the related
employee benefit obligations; or

•

the proceeds are returned to the reporting entity
to reimburse it for employee benefits already paid.

an entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s
employment before the normal retirement date; or

•

an employee’s decision to accept voluntary
redundancy in exchange for those benefits.

Other long-term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than post-employment benefits and
termination benefits) that are not due to be settled
within twelve months after the end of the period in
which the employees render the related service.

and

social

security

When an employee has rendered service to the entity
during a reporting period, the entity recognise the
undiscounted amount of short-term employee benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for that service:
•

as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting
any amount already paid. If the amount already
paid exceeds the undiscounted amount of the
benefits, the entity recognise that excess as an
asset (prepaid expense) to the extent that the
prepayment will lead to, for example, a reduction
in future payments or a cash refund; and

•

as an expense, unless another Standard requires
or permits the inclusion of the benefits in the cost
of an asset.

Termination benefits are employee benefits payable as
a result of either:
•

UIF

The expected cost of compensated absences is
recognised as an expense as the employees render
services that increase their entitlement or, in the
case of non-accumulating absences, when the
absence occurs. The entity measure the expected
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cost of accumulating compensated absences as the
additional amount that the entity expects to pay as a
result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated
at the reporting date.

obligation that arises from past events, and whose
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the entity;

The entity recognise the expected cost of bonus,
incentive and performance related payments when the
entity has a present legal or constructive obligation to
make such payments as a result of past events and
a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.
A present obligation exists when the entity has no
realistic alternative but to make the payments.

Provisions are recognised when:

Post-employment
contribution plans

beneﬁts:

Deﬁned

Defined contribution plans are post-employment
benefit plans under which an entity pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and will
have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets
to pay all employee benefits relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods.
When an employee has rendered service to the entity
during a reporting period, the entity recognise the
contribution payable to a defined contribution plan in
exchange for that service:
•

•

as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any
contribution already paid. If the contribution already
paid exceeds the contribution due for service
before the reporting date, an entity recognise that
excess as an asset (prepaid expense) to the extent
that the prepayment will lead to, for example, a
reduction in future payments or a cash refund; and
as an expense, unless another Standard requires
or permits the inclusion of the contribution in the
cost of an asset.

1.9

Provisions and contingencies

A provision is a liability of uncertain timing or amount.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from
past events, and whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the entity. Contingent liability is a possible
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•

the entity has a present obligation as a result of a
past event;

•

it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits or service potential
will be required to settle the obligation; and

•

a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount to be recognised as a provision shall be
the best estimate of the expenditure expected to be
required to settle the present obligation at the reporting
date.
Where the effect of time value of money is material,
the amount of a provision is the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation.
Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions
are reversed if it is no longer probable that an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefits or service
potential will be required, to settle the obligation.
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not
recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 21.

1.10 Revenue from exchange
transactions
Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or
service potential during the reporting period when
those inflows result in an increase in net assets, other
than increases relating to contributions from owners.
An exchange transaction is one in which the
entity receives assets or services, or has liabilities
extinguished, and directly gives approximately equal
value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of
assets) to the other party in exchange.
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could
be exchanged, or a liability settled, between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length
transaction.
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Measurement

Interest

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, net of trade
discounts and volume rebates.

Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the
effective interest rate method.

Rendering of services
When the outcome of a transaction involving the
rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue
associated with the transaction is recognised by
reference to the stage of completion of the transaction
at the reporting date. The outcome of a transaction can
be estimated reliably when all the following conditions
are satisfied:
•

the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

•

it is probable that the economic benefits or service
potential associated with the transaction will flow
to the entity;

•

•

the stage of completion of the transaction at the
reporting date can be measured reliably; and
the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs
to complete the transaction can be measured
reliably.

When services are performed by an indeterminate
number of acts over a specified time frame, revenue is
recognised on a straight line basis over the specified
time frame unless there is evidence that some other
method better represents the stage of completion.
When a specific act is much more significant than any
other acts, the recognition of revenue is postponed
until the significant act is executed.
When the outcome of the transaction involving the
rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably,
revenue is recognised only to the extent of the
expenses recognised that are recoverable.
Service revenue is recognised by reference to the
stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting
date. Stage of completion is determined by services
performed to date as a percentage of total services to
be performed.

1.11 Revenue from non-exchange
transactions
Non-exchange transactions are defined as transactions
where the entity receives value from another entity
without directly giving approximately equal value in
exchange.

Measurement
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, net of trade
discounts and volume rebates.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised as revenue when:
•

it is probable that the economic benefits or service
potential associated with the transaction will flow
to the entity,

•

the amount of the revenue can be measured
reliably, and

•

to the extent that there has been compliance with
any restrictions associated with the grant.

The entity assesses the degree of certainty attached to
the flow of future economic benefits or service potential
on the basis of the available evidence. Certain grants
payable by one level of government to another are
subject to the availability of funds. Revenue from these
grants is only recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits or service potential associated with
the transaction will flow to the entity. An announcement
at the beginning of a financial year that grants may be
available for qualifying entities in accordance with an
agreed programme may not be sufficient evidence
of the probability of the flow. Revenue is then only
recognised once evidence of the probability of the flow
becomes available.
Restrictions on government grants may result in such
revenue being recognised on a time proportion basis.
Where there is no restriction on the period, such
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revenue is recognised on receipt or when the Act
becomes effective, which-ever is earlier.
When government remit grants on a re-imbursement
basis, revenue is recognised when the qualifying
expense has been incurred and to the extent that any
other restrictions have been complied with.

1.12 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are interest and other expenses
incurred by an entity in connection with the borrowing
of funds. Borrowing costs are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

in accordance with the nature of the expense, and
where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as
revenue in the statement of financial performance.

1.16 Irregular expenditure
Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the
Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) is expenditure
other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in
contravention of or that is not in accordance with a
requirement of any applicable legislation, including (a)

this Act; or

(b)

the State Tender Board Act, 1968 (Act No. 86
of 1968), or any regulations made in terms of
the Act; or

(c)

any provincial legislation providing for
procurement procedures in that provincial
government.

1.13 Translation of foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions
A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial
recognition in Rands, by applying to the foreign
currency amount the spot exchange rate between the
functional currency and the foreign currency at the
date of the transaction.
At each reporting date:
•

foreign currency monetary items are translated
using the closing rate; Exchange differences are
recognised in surplus or deficit in the period in
which they arise.

Irregular expenditure is recorded in the notes to
the financial statements when confirmed after its
assessment. The amount recorded is equal to the
value of the irregular expenditure incurred unless it
is impracticable to determine, in which case reasons
therefor are provided in the note.
Irregular expenditure is reduce d from the note
when it is either condoned by the relevant authority,
transferred to receivables for recovery, not condoned
and removed or written-off.

1.14 Comparative ﬁgures
Where necessary, comparative figures have been
reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in
the current year.

1.15 Fruitless and wasteful
expenditure
Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was
made in vain and would have been avoided had
reasonable care been exercised.
All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the
statement of financial performance in the year that the
expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified
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Irregular expenditure receivables are measured at the
amount that is expected to be recoverable and are derecognised when settled or subsequently written-off
as irrecoverable.

1.17 Budget information
The financial statements and the budget are on the
same basis of accounting therefore a comparison
with the budgeted amounts for the reporting period
have been included in the Statement of comparison
of budget and actual amounts. The approved budget
is prepared on a accrual basis and presented by
economic classification linked to performance
outcome objectives.
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The approved budget covers the fiscal period from
2020/04/01 to 2021/03/31.

1.20 New standards and
interpretation

1.18 Related parties

The following Standards and interpretation adopted in
the current financial year ended 31 March 2021

A related party is a person or an entity with the ability
to control or jointly control the other party, or exercise
significant influence over the other party, or vice versa,
or an entity that is subject to common control, or joint
control.
Management are those persons responsible for
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the
entity, including those charged with the governance of
the entity in accordance with legislation, in instances
where they are required to perform such functions.
Close members of the family of a person are considered
to be those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that management in
their dealings with the entity.
The entity is exempt from disclosure requirements in
relation to related party transactions if that transaction
occurs within normal supplier and/or client/recipient
relationships on terms and conditions no more or less
favourable than those which it is reasonable to expect
the entity to have adopted if dealing with that individual
entity or person in the same circumstances and
terms and conditions are within the normal operating
parameters established by that reporting entity’s legal
mandate.
Where the entity is exempt from the disclosures
in accordance with the above, the entity discloses
narrative information about the nature of the
transactions and the related outstanding balances,
to enable users of the entity’s financial statements to
understand the effect of related party transactions on
its financial statements.

1.19 Change in accounting policy

GRAP 110 - Living and Non-living
Resources - Effective 1 April 2020
The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the:
•

Recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure requirements for living resources; and

•

Disclosure requirements for non-living resources .

The adoption of the standard has no material impact
on the results of FPB and has not resulted in increased
disclosure

GRAP 34 - Separate Financial Statements
- 1 April 2020
The objective of this Standard is to prescribe
the accounting and disclosure requirements for
investments in controlled entities, joint ventures and
associates when an entity prepares separate financial
statements
The adoption of the standard has no material impact
on the results of FPB and has not resulted in increased
disclosure

GRAP 35 - Consolidated
Statements - 1 April 2020

Financial

The objective of this Standard is to establish principles
for the presentation and preparation of consolidated
financial statements when an entity controls one or
more other entities.
The adoption of the standard has no material impact
on the results of FPB and has not resulted in increased
disclosure

There was no change in accounting policy and
standard that was adopted during the year.
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GRAP 36 - Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures - 1 April 2020
The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the
accounting for investments in associates and joint
ventures and to set out the requirements for the
application of the equity method when accounting for
investments in associates and joint ventures
The adoption of the standard has no material impact
on the results of FPB and has not resulted in increased
disclosure

GRAP 37 - Joint Arrangements
The objective of this Standard is to establish principles
for financial reporting by entities that have an interest
in arrangements that are controlled jointly (i.e. joint
arrangements).
The adoption of the standard has no material impact
on the results of FPB and has not resulted in increased
disclosure
GRAP 38 - Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

Following the global financial crisis, a number of
concerns were raised about the accounting for financial
instruments. This included that (a) information on credit
losses and defaults on financial assets was received
too late to enable proper decision-making, (b) using
fair value in certain instances was inappropriate, and
(c) some of the existing accounting requirements were
seen as too rules based. As a result, the International
Accounting Standards Board® amended its existing
Standards to deal with these issues. The IASB issued
IFRS® Standard on Financial Instruments (IFRS 9) in
2009 to address many of the concerns raised. Revisions
were also made to IAS® on Financial Instruments:
Presentation and the IFRS Standard® on Financial
Instruments: Disclosures. The IPSASB issued revised
International Public Sector Accounting Standards in
June 2018 so as to align them with the equivalent IFRS
Standards. The revisions better align the Standards
of GRAP with recent international developments.The
amendments result in better information available
to make decisions about financial assets and their
recoverability, and more transparent information on
financial liabilities

The objective of this Standard is to require an entity to
disclose information that enables users of its financial
statements to evaluate:

The effective date is not yet set by the Minister of
Finance.

iGRAP 20 - Accounting for Adjustments to
Revenue

The entity expects to adopt the Standard for the first
time when the Minister sets the effective date. The
entity is currently assessing the impact of the Standard.

This standard clarifies the accounting for adjustments
to:
(d) exchange and non-exchange revenue charged in
terms of legislation or similar means; and
(e) interest and penalties that arise from revenue
already recognised as a result of the completion of
a review, appeal or objection process.
The adoption of the standard has no material impact
on the results of FPB and has not resulted in increased
disclosure The following standards of GRAP have been
issued but are not yet effective and not yet applied for
the year ended 31 March 2021:
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FIGURES IN RAND

2.

NOTE(S)

2021

2020

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash on hand

772

10 966

Bank balances

12 238 201

10 640 686

Short-term deposits

19 687 602

12 913 048

31 926 575

23 564 700

FPB has issued a bank guarantee with our banker for security of Durban regional offices. The value of the bank
guarantee is R117 400 and it was issued on the 12 September 2018.

3.

Receivables from exchange transactions

Debtors
Staff petty cash advance
Pre payments

2 396 491

2 474 075

19 693

4 085

295 331

696 037

2 711 515

3 174 197

At the end of the reporting period none of the trade and other receivables from exchange transations were past due
and impaired.

Credit quality of trade and other receivables
The credit quality of trade and other receivables that are neither past nor due nor impaired can be assessed by
reference to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates.

4.

Statutory receivable - Exchange transaction

Current assets
Statutory receivable

Statutory receivables arise from the Films and
Publications Act 65 of 1996, as amended, and requires
the distributors to register with the board for an annual
license to distribute content physically or online. The
receivable is recognised when the definition of an
asset is met and, when it is probable that the future
economic benefits or service potential associated with
the asset will flow to the entity and the transaction
amount can be measured reliably. The entity is
required or entitled in terms of Films and Publications
Act 65 of 1996, as amended to levy additional charges
on overdue or unpaid amounts, and such charges

1 407 013

2 399 534

are levied, the entity applies the principles as stated
in “Accrued interest” as well as the relevant policy on
Revenue from exchange transactions.
Management analysed the statutory receivable to
consider if there is any of them that are past due but
not impaired and concluded that none of the statutory
receivable as at 31 March 2021 qualified to be impaired
because the delay on the payment relates to system
challenges on the distributors payment portal and the
other one made arrangements to pay quartely.
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Age analysis for statutory receivable
180 Days

- R1 334 793

60 Days

- R0

120 Days

- R2 309

30 Days

- R30 089

90 Days

- R1 088

Current

- R38 734

Total

5.

- R1 407 013

Property, plant and equipment

FIGURES IN RAND

FIGURES IN RAND

2020

ACCUMULATED
DEPRECIATION
AND
ACCUMULATED
IMPAIRMENT

ACCUMULATED
DEPRECIATION
AND
ACCUMULATED
IMPAIRMENT

CARRYING
VALUE

COST/
VALUATION

CARRYING
VALUE

Furniture and fixtures

3 747 070

(1 767 044)

1 980 026

3 747 070

(1 596 597)

2 150 473

Motor vehicles

3 556 975

(908 553)

2 648 422

1 142 593

(679 706)

462 887

Office equipment

3 405 583

(1 761 127)

1 644 456

3 364 736

(1 615 095)

1 749 641

Computer equipment

7 750 020

(4 293 480)

3 456 540

7 306 259

(3 811 237)

3 495 022

Leasehold improvements

1 968 866

(1 934 855)

34 011

1 968 866

(1 900 844)

68 022

892 206

(322 186)

570 020

892 206

(24 784)

867 422

21 320 720

(10 987 245)

10 333 475

18 421 730

(9 628 263)

8 793 467

Leased - office equipment
Total
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5.

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 31 March 2021
FIGURES IN RAND
OPENING
BALANCE
Furniture and fixtures

ADDITIONS

DISPOSALS

2021

2020

DEPRECIATION

TOTAL

2 150 473

-

-

(170 447)

1 980 026

462 887

2 574 102

-

(388 567)

2 648 422

Office equipment

1 749 641

66 059

(3 566)

(167 678)

1 644 456

Computer equipment

3 495 022

646 107

-

(684 589)

3 456 540

68 022

-

-

(34 011)

34 011

867 422

-

-

(297 402)

570 020

8 793 467

3 286 268

(3 566)

(1 742 694)

10 333 475

Motor vehicles

Leasehold improvements
Leased - Office equipment

FIGURES IN RAND

2021

2020

RECONCILIATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - 31 MARCH 2020
OPENING
BALANCE
Furniture and fixtures

ADDITIONS

DEPRECIATION

TOTAL

2 272 082

48 879

(170 488)

2 150 473

629 361

-

(166 474)

462 887

Office equipment

1 818 533

79 599

(148 491)

1 749 641

Computer equipment

2 677 803

1 482 507

(665 288)

3 495 022

136 043

-

(68 021)

68 022

-

892 206

(24 784)

867 422

7 533 822

2 503 191

(1 243 546)

8 793 467

Motor vehicles

Leasehold improvements
Leased - office equipment

Pledged as security
None of the assets disclosed above have been pledged as security for liabilities.
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6.

Intangible assets

FIGURES IN RAND

FIGURES IN RAND

COST/
VALUATION

2021

2020

ACCUMULATED

ACCUMULATED

DEPRECIATION
AND
ACCUMULATED

DEPRECIATION

CARRYING

COST/

VALUE

VALUATION

IMPAIRMENT

CARRYING

AND

VALUE

ACCUMULATED
IMPAIRMENT

Computer software

2 831 926

(1 505 826)

1 326 100

2 922 215

(1 424 191)

1 498 024

Intangible assets
under development

9 018 538

-

9 018 538

9 018 538

-

9 018 538

11 850 464

(1 505 826)

10 344 638

11 940 753

(1 424 191)

10 516 562

Total

FIGURES IN RAND

2021

2020

AMORTISATION

TOTAL

RECONCILIATION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS - 31 MARCH 2021
OPENING
BALANCE
Computer software

1 498 024

(171 924)

1 326 100

Intangible assets under development

9 018 538

-

9 018 538

10 516 562

(171 924)

10 344 638

RECONCILIATION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS - 31 MARCH 2020
OPENING

ADDITIONS

DISPOSALS

AMORTISATION

TOTAL

BALANCE
Computer software

1 558 168

226 887

(77 782)

(209 249)

1 498 024

Intangible assets under development

9 018 538

-

-

-

9 018 538

10 576 706

226 887

(77 782)

(209 249)

10 516 562

Online Content Regulation Software (OCR)
The amount of intangible assets under development is for costs of development for the OCR and it is material to
the operations of FPB.

Pledged as security
None of the assets disclosed above have been pledged as security for liabilities.
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7.

Finance lease obligation

FIGURES IN RAND

2021

2020

Minimum lease payments due
- within one year

326 926

326 926

- in second to fifth year inclusive

299 682

626 608

626 608

953 534

less: future finance charges

(37 519)

(83 924)

Present value of minimum lease payments

589 089

869 610

- within one year

298 564

280 521

- in second to fifth year inclusive

290 525

589 089

589 089

869 610

Non-current liabilities

290 525

589 089

Current liabilities

298 564

280 521

589 089

869 610

Present value of minimum lease payments due

The FPB has entered into a lease agreement for six (6) photocopiers for a period of three years (36 months) effective
from 01 March 2020, ending 28 February 2023. The transaction has been treated as a finance lease as per the
requirements of
GRAP. The lease contract does not have an annual escalation Interest rates and the repayments are fixed at the
contract date. The entity will pay the total monthly minimum charge and the additional scan/copy charges if any, The
service provider will also be entitled to an interest on all overdue amounts at the rate of 2% of the prime lending rate.
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8.

Payables from exchange transactions

FIGURES IN RAND

2021

2020

Trade payables

4 080 587

2 157 357

480 757

758 402

5 440

-

2 311 649

2 090 279

631 794

549 124

-

7 873

261 134

259 602

Other accruals *

1 116 848

1 078 928

Deferred Revenue**

1 452 055

1 427 090

10 340 264

8 328 655

Payments received in advanced - contract in process
Union contribution
Debtors with credit balance
Pension
Salary & Wages Control
Medical aid

*Included under other accrual is the 13th cheque accrual of R360 582,09,
**The amount of deferred revenue relates to services that FPB must render to online distributors for the remaining
period of the contract

9.

Provisions

FIGURES IN RAND

2021

2020

RECONCILIATION OF PROVISIONS - 31 MARCH 2021
OPENING
BALANCE

100

UTILISED
ADDITIONS

DURING THE

TOTAL

YEAR

Perfomance Bonuses

2 827 913

2 975 722

(3 454 275)

2 349 360

Leave Pay

1 164 983

579 779

(201 878)

1 542 884

Litigation and claims

1 456 611

500 000

-

1 956 611

5 449 507

4 055 501

(3 656 153)

5 848 855
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RECONCILIATION OF PROVISIONS - 31 MARCH 2020
OPENING
BALANCE

ADDITIONS

UTILISED

REVERSED

DURING THE

DURING THE

YEAR

YEAR

TOTAL

Perfomance Bonuses

2 719 600

2 758 989

(2 650 676)

-

2 827 913

Leave Pay

1 368 622

122 781

(326 420)

-

1 164 983

Litigation and Claims

1 582 734

1 129 553

(97 218)

(1 158 458)

1 456 611

5 670 956

4 011 323

(3 074 314)

(1 158 458)

5 449 507

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount
thus the reason for the disclosure of uncertainties
about timing or amounts. Provisions are reviewed at
each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current
best estimate. If the effect is material, provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash
flows that reflect current market assessments of the
time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks
specific to the liability
The provision recognised on performance bonuses
amount is based on the 5% of the approved annual
salary cost. The payment for bonuses is subject to

approval by council and is not expected to exceed the
budgeted amount.
The leave pay provision accounts for vested leave pay
to which employees may become entitled upon exit
from the service of FPB.
Provision raised for litigation and claims relate to labour
relations matter and the assumption used to determine
the amount is based on the cost to company salary
that the employee was earning when they exited FPB.
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10.

Revenue

FIGURES IN RAND

2021

2020

Regulation fees (Classification and Registration fees)

5 626 458

6 389 904

Other income

265 180

33 588

Interest received - investment

840 109

1 157 666

100 596 000

99 373 000

107 327 747

106 954 158

Classification fees

720 105

1 700 130

Registration fees

214 560

419 633

Annual renewal fees

264 832

434 439

2 347

6 454

4 414 723

3 788 661

9 890

40 587

Other income

265 180

33 588

Interest received - investment

840 109

1 157 666

6 731 746

7 581 158

100 596 000

99 373 000

Government grants & subsidies

The amount included in revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services are as follows:

Copies of certificates
Online license fees
Internet service provider registration

The amount included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions is as follows:

Transfer revenue
Government grants & subsidies

*Included under other income and recoveries is the amount of R206 177,04 received by the entity from the insurer
for an employee placed on temporary disability.
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11.

Other revenue

Sale of tender documents

20 100

5 700

245 080

27 888

265 180

33 588

100 596 000

99 373 000

840 109

1 157 666

32 992 488

33 745 397

Classifiers remuneration

3 958 143

4 789 788

Medical aid - Employer contributions

2 824 652

2 898 151

UIF

302 800

312 138

Leave pay provision charge

579 779

(203 639)

5 208 165

5 196 818

122 188

146 718

11 187 926

12 098 378

-

702 314

57 176 141

59 686 063

Other income and recoveries*

12.

Government grants and subsidies

Operating grants
DCDT - Operating grant

13.

Investment revenue

Interest revenue
Interest from investment accounts

14.

Employee related costs

Salaries and Bonuses

Retirement fund contributions
Staff debt
PAYE
Salary temporary employees
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15.

General expenses
FIGURES IN RAND

Advertising

2020

369 844

40 856

1 834 119

1 714 107

60 694

85 374

1 967 042

475 360

264 500

-

2 946 551

2 162 499

923 023

1 459 292

Insurance

1 125 536

1 119 241

ICT expenses***

8 630 644

9 147 616

Fleet

302 479

691 658

Fuel and oil

487 286

324 020

6 650

74 666

487 937

587 913

Public relations

3 711 974

3 395 168

Staff development, recruitment and welfare

2 169 863

1 739 673

144 556

174 604

1 511 643

447 372

93 566

19 685

3 665 954

6 163 998

7 792

1 066 384

1 535 630

1 031 590

479 682

301 414

1 460 460

1 792 877

3 566

77 782

Lease expenses

55 777

393 613

Storage - Classification Material

58 158

61 600

34 304 926

34 548 362

Auditors remuneration
Bank charges
Cleaning and Maintenance*
Internal audit fees
Consulting and Professional Fees**
FPB Council

Postage and courier
Printing and stationery

Subscriptions and membership fees
Telephone and fax
Transport and freight
Travel - local****
Travel - overseas
Water and Electricity
Pension admin fee
Workshops & meetings
Disposal of assets
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*Cleaning and Maintenance amount include the general maintenance, office maintenance and deep cleaning.
**Consulting fees is inclusive of legal fees amount of R653 017 as at 31 March 2021.
***ICT expenses include system maintenance and license fees.
****Domestic travel decreased because of travel ban as a result of Covid 19 pandemic.
The amount of repairs and maintenance in relation to property, plant and equipment is immaterial and it is included
under ICT expenses and cleaning and maintenance.

16.

Finance Cost

Finance leases

17.
Fees

46 409

4 647

1 834 119

1 714 107

Auditors’ remuneration
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18.

Cash generated from operations
FIGURES IN RAND

Surplus

2021

2020

6 144 320

4 318 577

1 914 652

1 452 795

3 566

77 782

46 409

4 647

399 348

(221 449)

Receivables from exchange transactions

462 682

1 371 536

Statutory receivables

992 521

(2 396 873)

2011 608

(560 290)

11 975 106

4 046 725

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Loss on sale of assets
Finance costs - Finance leases
Movements in provisions
Changes in working capital:

Payables from exchange transactions

19.

Employee beneﬁt obligations

Retirement Beneﬁt Payment
The Film and Publication Board contributes for all qualifying employees the retirement benefits to a Fund in which
assets are held and controlled by Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund. As at 31 March 2021, current services costs
of R5 208 165 - (31 March 2020 R 5 196 818 ) were recognized as expenses which is limited to the contributions that
were paid. Actual contributions paid during the current financial year have been disclosed as Note 14.

20.

Operating lease
FIGURES IN RAND

2021

2020

Operating lease
Premises

106
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20.

Operating lease (continued)

20.1 Operating Lease - Head Ofﬁce
Film and Publication Board has an outstanding commitment in respect of operating lease for Head Office situated in
Centurion, The lease agreement was entered into for a period of 5 years effective from 1 February 2012.
In February 2014, the Film and Publication Board acquired additional office space for their Head Office situated in
Centurion, The lease agreement was entered into for a period of 3 years effective from 1 February 2014.
In February 2018, The Film and Publication board entered into an agreement on a month to month lease to date and
there is no future minimum lease payment disclosed.
There is no contingent rental payable in terms of the agreement.
10%

Annual escalations

20.2 Operating Lease - Durban Ofﬁce
The Film and Publication Board acquired additional office space for their Regional Office situated in Durban, The
lease agreement was entered into for a period of 3 years effective from 1 August 2015 to July 2018 and it was further
extended for additional 3 years from 01 August 2018 to 31 July 2021. Operating leases liabilities for this lease fall
due as follows:
There is no contingent rental payable in terms of the agreement.
9%

Annual escalations

FIGURES IN RAND

2021

2020

Future Minimum Lease Payments
Up to 1 Year

232 424

678 082

2 - 5 Years

-

232 424

5 or More Years

-

-

232 424

910 506

20.3 Operating Lease - Cape Town Ofﬁce
The Film and Publication Board acquired additional office space for their Regional Office situated in Cape Town,
The lease agreement was entered into for a period of 5 years effective from 1 March 2016 to February 2021 and it
was further extended for additional 12 months from 01 April 2021 to 28 February 2022. Operating leases liabilities
for this lease fall due as follows:
There is no contingent rental payable in terms of the agreement.
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Annual escalations

5.5%

Future Minimum Lease Payments
Up to 1 Year

536 274

508 317

-

-

Contingent liability for Labour Disputes (1.1)

849 786

-

Contingent Liability for Legal Cost (1.2)

905 529

905 529

1 755 315

905 529

5 or More Years

21. Contingencies

21.1. Litigation and claims
This amount relates to a labour disputes between FPB
and two employee who instituted proceedings at the
CCMA for constructive dismissal & unfair dismissal.
The FPB has raised contingency for possible settlement
of the two employees.
This amount relate to legal costs that FPB will incur
for labour related disputes for representation in court
and CCMA
Legal fees for the FPB’s legal representation will be
required in the amount of R905 529 (estimated) in
pursuit of the review application and opposition to the
cross-review application.

21.2 Accumulated surplus/(Deﬁcit)
In terms the of the section(53)3 of the PFMA, a public
entity may not accumulate surplus funds without
approval from National Treasury. Approval will be
requested from National Treasury to retain current
year’s accumulated surplus. In the preceding years the
National Treasury has always allowed the retention of
the accumulated surplus.
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22.

Events after the reporting date

The cabinet announced the following members to the
Council of the Film and Publication Board with effect
from 22 April 2021:
(i)

Ms Zamantungwa Mkosi (Chairperson);

(ii) Dr Siyasanga
Chairperson)

Mhlangabezi

(iii) Ms Lungelo Pearljean Nxele;
(iv) Ms Magalutchmi Pillay;
(v) Mr Phosa Jan Mashangoane;
(vi) Ms Glory Zanele Nkosi (CA) SA;
(vii) Ms Mpho Sedibe, (CA) SA;
(viii) Dr Andile Nontso; and
(ix) Adv Lufuno Tokyo Nevondwe

Tyali;

(Deputy
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23. Related parties transactions
Related parties transactions
Funds received from related parties
Department of Communications and Digital Technologies

FIGURES IN RAND

100 596 000

2021

99 373 000

2020

Remuneration of management
Management class: Councillors
Councillors/Board members
Mpumlwana NFT (Chairperson)

124 655

151 416

Mangena S (Deputy Chairperson)

119 087

306 788

88 119

95 511

173 079

197 209

Skeepers N

43 491

85 303

Dubazana N

147 285

114 696

Mudunungu A*

-

28 399

Makhasi Y**

-

-

695 716

979 322

46 304

65 156

Baloyi N

-

19 620

Ndaba S

49 116

60 540

Menye VC

19 620

19 620

68 736

99 780

Ditlhake M
Nevondwe LT

Independent - Audit and Risk committee members
Nkosi Z (Chairperson)

ICT Steering Committee members

* Mr Mudunungu was still a member of the council but did not attend any of the meetings in the year under review
** Makhasi Y is employed by state and does not earn Council fee from FPB
The former council members 5 year term ended in 2 December 2020
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23.

Related parties transactions (continued)

Management class: Executive management
2021 - Management
FIGURES IN RAND

2020

TOTAL

BONUSES AND
PERFORMANCE
RELATED
PAYMENTS

RETIREMENT
FUND
CONTRIBUTIONS

MEDICAL AID
CONTRIBUTIONS

GROUP LIFE
INSURANCE

CELLPHONE
ALLOWANCE

112 407

-

-

-

-

-

112 407

Mashele
A- Chief
Operations
Officer

1 295 551

127 664

141 849

86 928

27 163

55 440

1 734 595

Less LD
- Shared
Service
Executive

1 334 729

126 387

140 430

-

26 891

55 440

1 683 877

Chowan
M - Chief
Financial
Officer **

1 420 512

-

-

-

-

55 440

1 475 952

635 089

-

56 149

6 166

10 651

23 100

731 155

4 798 288

254 051

338 428

93 094

64 705

189 420

5 737 986

NAME

Mashele
A- Chief
Executive
Officer
(Acting)*

Ramugondo
N- Chief
Information
Officer***

SALARY

*Acting allowance for Mashele A who acted as CEO
**Chowan M is on contract hence his salary does not include other contributions
***Ramugondo N resigned effective from 31 August 2020
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23.

Related parties transactions (continued)

2020 - Management
FIGURES IN RAND
BONUSES AND
PERFORMANCE
RELATED
PAYMENTS

RETIREMENT
FUND
CONTRIBUTIONS

MEDICAL AID
CONTRIBUTIONS

GROUP LIFE
INSURANCE

2021

2020

CELLPHONE
ALLOWANCE

TOTAL

NAME

SALARY

DR Motebang
M - Chief
Executive
Officer
(Acting)

1 315 833

-

-

-

-

-

1 315 833

26 083

-

-

-

-

-

26 083

Mashele
A- Chief
Operations
Officer

1 301 282

-

138 963

81 564

26 682

55 440

1 603 931

Less LD
- Shared
Service
Executive

1 340 546

-

137 573

-

26 415

55 440

1 559 974

Ramugondo
N - Chief
Information
Officer

1 237 003

-

132 015

55 731

25 348

55 440

1 505 537

Ndobeni
U - Chief
Financial
Officer

199 971

79 723

10 134

4 902

1 825

4 051

300 606

V Matidza
- Chief
Financial
Officer
(Acting)

261 865

-

-

-

-

-

261 865

5 682 583

79 723

418 685

142 197

80 270

170 371

6 573 829

Mashele
A - Chief
Executive
Officer
(Acting)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS
S AT 31 MARCH 202
21

Middle Managers salaries
FPB Management took a decision to remove the middle
managers as part of the related parties disclosure
(Previously dislosed in 2018/19 and 2019/20 finacial
period) due to the fact that in terms of GRAP 20 on
related parties middle managers do not qualify to be
included as a related parties in terms of the definition
as they do not have ability to exerse significant
influence and they have limitation in terms of what they
can do and not do. Refer to the following extract from
the GRAP 20 standard.
GRAP 20 paragraph 123 states that Management
includes all persons having the authority and
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the activities of the entity, including.
all members of the governing body of the reporting
entity;

any key advisors of a member, or sub-committees,
of the governing body who has the authority and
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the activities of the entity; and
the senior management team of the entity, including the
chief executive officer or permanent head of the entity,
unless already included in (a) The middle managers of
FPB do not meet the minimum requirements of GRAP
20 paragraph 123 and therefore cannot be listed as
related parties.

24.

Risk management Liquidity risk

The FPB is only exposed to liquidity risk with regard
to the payment of its payables and finance lease
obligation. These payables are all due within the shortterm. The FPB manages its liquidity risk by holding
sufficient cash in its bank account, supplemented by
cash available in investment accounts

a member of the governing body of an economic entity
who has the authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the entity;

AT 31 MARCH 2021
Trade and other payables
Finance lease liability
AT 31 MARCH 2020
Trade and other payables
Finance lease liability
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LESS THAN 1

BETWEEN 1

BETWEEN 2

YEAR

AND 2 YEARS

AND 5 YEARS

OVER 5 YEARS

10 340 264

-

-

-

298 564

280 521

-

-

LESS THAN 1

BETWEEN 1

BETWEEN 2

YEAR

AND 2 YEARS

AND 5 YEARS

OVER 5 YEARS

8 328 655

-

-

-

280 521

589 089

-

-

Interest rate risk

Credit risk management

FPB invests surplus cash on which it earns interest
income. The interest income is not independent of
changes in market interest rates.

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS
S AT 31 MARCH 202
21

Maximum exposure to credit risk
FPB’s exposure to credit risk to loans and receivables
is limited
The entities maximum exposure to credit risk is the
carrying amount of the financial assets.

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash
Receivables

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Finance lease obligation

FPB credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash
equivalents, derivative financial instruments and trade
debtors. The entity only deposits cash with major
banks with high quality credit standing and limits
exposure to any one counter-party.
Trade receivables are exposed to a low credit risk as
most of FPB’ s revenue transactions require deposits
2021

2020

31 926 575

23 564 700

2 412 457

2 478 160

34 339 032

26 042 860

2021

2020

589 089

869 610

10 251 626

8 328 655

10 840 715

9 198 265

Opening balance

3 549 441

3 558 633

Opening balance

3 549 441

3 558 633

Trade and other payables

25.

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Add: Expenditure Identified - Current

3 726

Less: Amount written off
Closing balance

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure amount of R3
726,35 relates to incorrect salary payment.
During the financial year an independent investigation
was conducted by Internal Audit into the settlement
amounts of R2,867,065 paid to former executives
on their exit. The investigation concluded that the

(9 192)
3 553 167

3 549 441

settlement amounts was not fruitless and wasteful
expenditure and should be written off. The former
Council of the FPB approved the report and the
request for amount determination was sent to National
Treasury and a request for write off to the Executive
Authority. At year end this matter was not concluded.

113

FILM AND PUBLICATION BOARD
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2021

26.

Irregular expenditure

Opening balance as previously reported

2 011 309

912 520

Less: Amounts reversed

2 011 309

912 520

116 317

1 098 789

2 127 626

2 011 309

Add: Irregular Expenditure - current
Closing balance

1. R3 917 - Procurement of legal services outside
SCM processes
2. R112 400 - Award was not approved by an official
with a properly delegated authority
With regards to the R2 011 309 reported in the prior

period there were six (6) warnings issued and 1
termination in the 20/21 financial period, four (4)
relates to 18/19 financial period and two (2) relates
to 19/20 financial year. There are a further six (6)
incidents that are under investigation by the Theft
and Loss Committee.

27. Commitments
Authorised capital expenditure
Already contracted for but not provided for
•

Property, plant and equipment

4 699 127

3 103 604

4 699 127

3 103 604

15 100 578

9 317 653

15 100 578

9 317 653

Total capital commitments
Already contracted for but not provided for

Authorised operational expenditure

Already contracted for but not provided for
•

Operating expenses

Total operational commitments
Already contracted for but not provided for
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Commitments disclosed relates to contracts awarded but not completed before 31 March 2020. The operating
lease commitments have been disclosed in Note 19. Cash and cash equivalents balance disclosed in Note 3 as well
as the MTEF budget will be utilised to finance these commitments during the 2020/21 financial year.

28. Changes in accounting estimate
GRAP 17 - property, plant and equipment requires the review of the useful life of an asset at least at each financial
year end. The FPB revised the useful life as at 1 April 2020 for various category of assets within the range that was
initially approved in 2015/16 financial year. The estimates were revised as follows.
Leasehold improvement - additional 24 months
Motor vehicle - additional 24 months
The effect of the change in accounting estimate will result in the increase in net surplus by R43 650,79 for the
2020/21 financial period and decrease in net surplus of R43 650,79 for 2021/22 financial period.
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7

Section

INDICATOR

INDICATOR
2019/20

ACHIEVEMENT
2020/21

PLANNED TARGET
2020/21

ACHIEVEMENT

ACTUAL

DEVIATION FROM

FOR 2020/21

ACHIEVEMENT

TO ACTUAL

PLANNED TARGET

Content
Classification
(reports)

Approved
Classification
Guidelines

1.1.1.1 Improved
consumer
confidence level in
FPB Classification
decisions

1.1.1.2
Constitutionally
Compliant
Classification

N/A

Achieved Customer
satisfaction
with customer
satisfaction levels of
93,2%

Technical
amendment of
Classification
Guidelines
undertaken

Produce Content
Classification Index
(CCI) Indicating
baseline confidence
levels.

Technical
Amendment of
Classification
Guidelines
undertaken and
approved by the
Executive Authority.

Content
Classification Index
indicating baseline
levels not achieved.

There were delays
in securing a
service provider
due to Lockdown
and closure of
the National
Treasury tender
bulletin. Prototype
& framework of
analysis developed.
N/A

Achieved

DEVIATIONS

COMMENT ON

Not Achieved

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 1.1: EFFECTIVE CONTENT REGULATION ALIGNED TO THE CONSTITUTION

OUTPUT

OUTCOME

ACTUAL

Objective 1.1: Review and Develop Guideline

FILM AND PUBLICATION BOARD
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INDICATOR

INDICATOR

ACTUAL
2019/20

ACHIEVEMENT
2020/21

PLANNED TARGET

ACTUAL
2020/21

ACHIEVEMENT
FOR 2020/21

ACHIEVEMENT

TO ACTUAL

PLANNED TARGET
DEVIATIONS

COMMENT ON

1.3.1.1 Competent
FPB and Industry
Classifiers

1.2.1.1 Reduces
level of Industry
Non-Compliance.
with FP Act and
Regulations

10 953 (distributor
compliance
inspections
conducted 3044
for Online and 7909
for Physical

Non-Compliance
notices issued to
at least 60% of
non-compliant
distributors

Over – Achieved by
Issued non10%
compliance
notices to 70%
of non-compliant
distributors
identified. 767 noncompliances notices
issued to 1102
of non-compliant
distributors
identified.

Approved Classifier
Training Programme

N/A

Design Classifier
Training Program

Designer Classifier
Training Programme
not achieved.

Not Achieved

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 1.3: TRAIN AND CAPACITATE FPB AND INDUSTRY CLASSIFIERS

Number of Nocompliance notices
issued.

Delayed finalization
of Terms of
Reference due to
lack of technical
expertise required
on the process
to follow in the
accreditation of
training programs.

Overachievement
due to improved
planning within the
unit and training
of compliance
monitoring team
to conduct online
compliance
monitoring.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 1.2: MONITOR COMPLIANCE OF DISTRIBUTORS WITH LEGISLATIVE AND REGULATORY PROVISIONS

OUTPUT

OUTCOME

DEVIATION FROM

FILM AND PUBLICATION BOARD
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2.2.1.1 Members
of the Public
understand the FPB
mandate

2.1.1.1 Increased
Public awareness of
the FPB Brand

INDICATOR

INDICATOR

ACTUAL
2019/20

ACHIEVEMENT
2020/21

PLANNED TARGET

ACTUAL
2020/21

ACHIEVEMENT
FOR 2020/21

ACHIEVEMENT

TO ACTUAL

PLANNED TARGET

DEVIATION FROM

N/A

Develop a Brand
Repositioning
Strategy based on
the perception study
results.

Brand Repositioning Achieved
strategy developed.
Brand Repositioning
Strategy developed
based on perception
results.

Outreach and
Educational reports,
Evaluation reports
as well as focus
group reports

N/A

Conduct 28
outreach campaigns
targeting cinemas,
schools, and youthbased organizations.

Conducted
28 Outreach
campaigns targeting
cinemas, schools,
and youth-based
organizations.

Achieved

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 2.2: IMPLEMENT NATIONAL EDUCATION CAMPAIGN

Brand Repositioning
Strategy

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 2.1: IMPLEMENT AN FPB BRAND ACTIVATION CAMPAIGN

OUTPUT

OUTCOME

Strategic Outcome 2.1: Implement an FPB Brand Activation Campaign

N/A

N/A

DEVIATIONS

COMMENT ON
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INDICATOR

INDICATOR

ACTUAL
2019/20

ACHIEVEMENT
2020/21

PLANNED TARGET

ACTUAL
2020/21

ACHIEVEMENT
FOR 2020/21

ACHIEVEMENT

TO ACTUAL

PLANNED TARGET
DEVIATIONS

COMMENT ON

2.3.1.1 Improved
Stakeholder
Relations with
Strategic Partners

Formalized
partnership
agreements.

N/A

4x Formalized
Partnerships per
annum

4 Formalized
Partnership
Agreements
(MOU’s) concluded:
1.Gauteng Film
Commission 2.SA
Arts and Culture
Youth Forum
3.Commission for
Gender Equality
4.Brand SA.

Achieved

N/A

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 2.3: FORMALIZE NATIONAL AND INTERNATIONAL PARTNERSHIPS WITH STRATEGIC STAKEHOLDERS

OUTPUT

OUTCOME

DEVIATION FROM
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3.1.1.1.1 FPB is
a Trusted. and
Relevant Regulator

INDICATOR

INDIATOR

ACTUAL
2019/20

ACHIEVEMENT
2020/21

PLANNED TARGET

ACTUAL
2020/21

ACHIEVEMENT
FOR 2020/21

ACHIEVEMENT

TO ACTUAL

PLANNED TARGET

N/A

N/A

Convergence
Survey Report

Peer reviewed
Research Paper

Two Research
Papers Produced
annually.

Launch the Result
of the 2019/20
Convergence
Survey

Achieved

Not Achieved
Research papers
not produced but
concluded and
approved three
Research Proposals
(Technology trends,
gaming & education)

Convergence
survey concluded.
Convergence
Survey report
launched on 12
February 2021.

Capacity challenges
in the unit. Manager
Research and
Advocacy Vacancy.

DEVIATIONS

COMMENT ON

N/A

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 3.1: RESEARCH THE FUTURE OF MEDIA TECHNOLOGY AND PRACTICES BEYOND 2030

OUTPUT

OUTCOME

DEVIATION FROM

Strategic Outcome 3: Research the future of Media Technology and practices beyond 2030.
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2020/21

PLANNED TARGET
2020/21

ACHIEVEMENT

DEVIATION FROM

FOR 2020/21

ACHIEVEMENT

TO ACTUAL

PLANNED TARGET

Revised Corporate
Governance
Framework

4.1.1.2 Effective
Governance Regime
in the FPB

100%
implementation of
Framework

Unqualified opinion
attained

100%
Implementation
and Compliance
with the Corporate
Governance
Framework

Clean Audit Opinion

Not Achieved

Achieved

Unqualified opinion
attained.

Implemented 100%
of the approved
Governance
Framework.

Implementation of
the annual Internal
Audit Plan through
quarterly reports

4 Quarterly audits
implementation
reports presented
to Audit and
Risk Committee
Produced

100%
implementation
of the approved
Annual Internal
Audit Plan

100% of Internal
Achieved
Audits conducted as
per approved plan.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 4.1.2: ASSURANCE ON GOVERNANCE, RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROLS

External audit report
with a clean audit
opinion

4.1.1.1 Clean Audit
Achieved

4.1.1.3 Governance,
Risk Management
and Control
Processes are
adequate and
functioning as
intended.

2019/20

ACHIEVEMENT

ACTUAL

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 4.1: COMPLIANT WITH RELEVANT LEGISLATION, REGULATIONS AND POLICIES

OUTPUT

INDICATOR

OUTCOME

INDICATOR

ACTUAL

N/A

N/A

Material
adjustments had
to be made to
Annual Financial
Statements resulting
in regression in the
audit outcome.

DEVIATIONS

COMMENT ON

Strategic Outcome 4: Continuously improve Organizational Governance and Risk Management
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INDICATOR

INDICATOR

ACTUAL
2019/20

ACHIEVEMENT
2020/21

PLANNED TARGET

ACTUAL
2020/21

ACHIEVEMENT
FOR 2020/21

ACHIEVEMENT

TO ACTUAL

PLANNED TARGET

Quarterly progress
Achieved 93,5%
reports indicating % of annual ICT
achievement against deliverables
the ICT Plan.

4.3.1.1 Efficient and
Effective Business
Operations

Produce 4x Change
Management
Reports

4 Change
Management
Reports Produced

95%
Implementation of
the Approved ICT
Plan

88% of the Annual
ICT Plan achieved

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 4.3: MODERNIZE ICT CAPABILITY

N/A

Change
Management
Reports

4.2.1.1 Highly
Engaged Workforce

Not Achieved

Achieved

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 4.2: FPB EMPLOYEES ARE ENGAGED AND EFFECTIVE

OUTPUT

OUTCOME

DEVIATION FROM

High vacancy rate
in ICT leading
to technical
incapacity issues.
Chief Information
Officer, Manager
ICT and Systems
Administrator roles
were vacant at
different periods
in the financial
year. The division
experienced delays
for the database
consolidation
project due for
finalization in
Quarter 4 of the
financial year.

N/A

DEVIATIONS

COMMENT ON
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4.4.1.1 Increase in
additional Revenue
Collection and
Organizational
Sustainability

2019/20

ACHIEVEMENT
2020/21

PLANNED TARGET
2020/21

ACHIEVEMENT

ACTUAL

DEVIATION FROM

FOR 2020/21

ACHIEVEMENT

TO ACTUAL

PLANNED TARGET

Quarterly progress
reports of
implementation
of the revenue
enhancement
strategy.
N/A

Revenue
Enhancement
Strategy developed.

The Revenue
Enhancement
Strategy developed.
Achieved

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 4.4: IDENTIFY AND DEVELOP A REVENUE ENHANCEMENT STRATEGY PROGRAMME

OUTPUT

INDICATOR

OUTCOME

INDICATOR

ACTUAL

N/A

DEVIATIONS

COMMENT ON
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